
 

Waverley Borough Council 
Council Offices, The Burys,  
Godalming, Surrey 
GU7 1HR 
www.waverley.gov.uk 
 

 

  

  

Page 1 
 

 
To: All Members of the EXECUTIVE 

 

When calling please ask for: 

Fiona Cameron, Democratic Services 
Manager & Deputy Monitoring Officer 

Policy and Governance   

E-mail: fiona.cameron@waverley.gov.uk 

Direct line: 01483 523226 

Calls may be recorded for training or monitoring 

Date: 23 November 2020 

 
Membership of the Executive 

 
Cllr John Ward (Chairman) 
Cllr Paul Follows (Vice Chairman) 
Cllr Peter Clark 
Cllr Andy MacLeod 
Cllr Michaela Martin 
 

Cllr Mark Merryweather 
Cllr Nick Palmer 
Cllr Anne-Marie Rosoman 
Cllr Liz Townsend 
Cllr Steve Williams 
 

 
Dear Councillors 
 
A meeting of the EXECUTIVE will be held as follows:  
 

DATE: TUESDAY, 1 DECEMBER 2020 

TIME: 6.00 PM 

PLACE: ZOOM MEETING - VIRTUAL MEETING 

 
The Agenda for the Meeting is set out below. 
 
Yours sincerely  
 
ROBIN TAYLOR 
Head of Policy and Governance 
 

Agendas are available to download from Waverley’s website 
(www.waverley.gov.uk/committees), where you can also subscribe to 
updates to receive information via email regarding arrangements for 

particular committee meetings.  
 

Alternatively, agendas may be downloaded to a mobile device via the free 
Modern.Gov app, available for iPad, Android, Windows and Kindle Fire. 

 

http://www.waverley.gov.uk/committees


Page 2 
 

Most of our publications can be provided in alternative formats. For an 
audio version, large print, text only or a translated copy of this publication, 

please contact committees@waverley.gov.uk or call 01483 523351. 
 

This meeting will be webcast and can be viewed by visiting 
www.waverley.gov.uk/committees   

 
 

NOTES FOR MEMBERS 
 

Contact Officers are shown at the end of each report and members are welcome to raise 
questions, make observations etc. in advance of the meeting with the appropriate 
officer.   
 
Prior to the commencement of the meeting, the Leader, Deputy Leader or an 
appropriate Portfolio Holder to respond to any informal questions from members 
of the public, for a maximum of 15 minutes. 
 
[Questions will be taken in the order in which questioners register with the Democratic 
Services Officer on committees@waverley.gov.uk by midday on Tuesday 1 December, 
to be sent details of how to join the Zoom meeting. When read out, each question must 
be concluded within 2 minutes. In the event that it is not possible to give a verbal 
response, a written response will be provided following the meeting.] 
 

AGENDA 
 
1.  MINUTES   
  
 To confirm the Minutes of the Meeting held on 3 November 2020, and the 

Special Meeting held on 20 November 2020. 
 

2.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
  
 To receive apologies for absence. 

 
3.  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS   
  
 To receive from members, declarations of interest in relation to any items 

included on the agenda for this meeting, in accordance with the Waverley 
Code of Local Government Conduct. 
 

4.  QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC   
  
 The Chairman to respond to any questions received from members of the 

public for which notice has been given in accordance with Procedure Rule 10. 
 
The deadline for receipt of questions is 5pm on Tuesday 24 November 2020. 
 

5.  QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL   
  
 The Chairman to respond to any questions received from Members in 

mailto:committees@waverley.gov.uk
http://www.waverley.gov.uk/committees
mailto:committees@waverley.gov.uk


Page 3 
 

accordance with Procedure Rule 11.  
 
The deadline for receipt of questions is 5pm on Tuesday 24 November 2020. 
 

6.  LEADER'S AND PORTFOLIO HOLDERS' UPDATES   
  
7.  UPDATE TO GENERAL FUND MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 2021/22-

2024/25  (Pages 7 - 24) 
 [Portfolio Holder: Councillor Mark Merryweather] 
  [Wards Affected: All Wards] 
  
 Following on from the Contingency Revised Budget agreed at Full Council in 

August, a commitment was made to undertake an update to the Medium Term 
Financial Plan (MTFP) including a review of the longer-term effect of the 
pandemic on the Council’s future financial resilience, taking account of the 
wider economic conditions. It was agreed that this should be reported to 
Council no later than its December meeting. 
 
Recommendation 
 
It is recommended that the Executive, after considering comments from the 
Value for Money Overview & Scrutiny Committee, make the following 
recommendations to Council, to: 
 

1. Approve the updated forecast and assumptions in the latest Medium 
Term Financial Plan and request that a full review of the Plan is 
brought to Council in February 2021 alongside the draft 2021/21 
Budget report; and 

2. Agree that capital receipts are applied to fund business 
transformation and efficiency projects as allowed under the statutory 
provisions. 

 
8.  REVISED CORPORATE STRATEGY 2020 - 2025  (Pages 25 - 36) 
 [Portfolio Holder: Councillor John Ward, Councillor Paul Follows] 
  [Wards Affected: All Wards] 
  
 A review of the Corporate Strategy has been undertaken over the last six 

months and this report presents the outcome of the consultation process and 
the resulting Corporate Strategy for adoption. 
 
Recommendation 
 
It is recommended that the Executive recommend the Corporate Strategy, set 
out at Annexe 1, to Council for adoption at its 15 December Full Council 
meeting. 
 

9.  CARBON NEUTRALITY ACTION PLAN 2020-2030  (Pages 37 - 98) 
 [Portfolio Holder: Councillor Steve Williams] 
  [Wards Affected: All Wards] 
  
 In September 2019, the Council joined a growing number of Councils that 

made a commitment to taking urgent action to address Climate Change and 



Page 4 
 

aim to become Carbon Neutral by 2030. We committed to becoming a carbon 
neutral council and doing everything in our power to ensure that Waverley is a 
zero carbon borough by 2030. Officers are working towards significantly 
reducing Waverley’s impact on climate change and will strive to get as close as 
possible to carbon neutrality.  
 
This report presents Waverley’s Strategic Carbon Neutrality Action Plan 2020-
2030 (Annexe 1) and the Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy (Annexe 
2) bringing together input from all Council services and the wider public through 
a consultation that took place between September and October 2020. The 
action plan sets out the objectives and measures that will be taken in order to 
achieve the Councils carbon neutrality commitment. The Strategy is the 
overarching strategic document with links to all areas of work that have an 
impact on environmental sustainability.   
 
Recommendation 

 
It is recommended that the Executive:  

 
a. Approve final Strategic Carbon Neutrality Action Plan 2020-2030 

attached in Annexe 1, including the high-level targets within it, and 
acknowledges that it will be an evolving document. 

 
b. Approve the final Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy in Annexe 

2 
 
c.Endorse the governance structure proposed, including the membership 

of the Climate Emergency Board. 
 
d. Note the responses within the consultation summary which is attached 

in Annexe 3. 
 

10.  BOUNDARY COMMISSION ELECTORAL REVIEW 2020-2022  (Pages 99 - 
136) 

 [Portfolio Holder: Councillor John Ward, Councillor Paul Follows] 
  [Wards Affected: All] 
  
 The Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) has 

notified the Council that it will conduct an electoral review of the Borough 
during 2020-2022.  The review process has now commenced. It would be 
preferable for the Council to put forward a single agreed submission and so 
this report seeks approval to appoint an Informal Working Party to prepare a 
recommendation to the Executive on the preferred size of the Council which is 
the first stage of the Commission’s review. The submission must be made by 
the end of February 2021 and therefore will need to be debated by Full Council 
no later than its February 2021 meeting. 
 
Recommendation 
 
It is recommended that the Executive: 
 

i. Approve the setting up of an Informal Working Group of councillors, 



Page 5 
 

comprising two representatives from the three larger political Groups 
and one each from the two smaller political Groups, nominated by 
Group Leaders, together with one Independent Councillor. 
 

ii. Ask the Informal Working Group to bring forward recommendations (on 
the LGBCE ‘Size Submission’ document relating to the size of the 
Council from 2023) for consideration at the Executive’s February 
2021 meeting at the latest so that the Executive can, in turn, make 
recommendations for the Full Council to debate at its February 2021 
meeting.    

 
11.  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC   
  
 To consider the following recommendation on the motion of the Chairman: 

 
Recommendation 
 
That, pursuant to Procedure Rule 20, and in accordance with Section 100A(4) 
of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and public be excluded from the 
meeting during consideration of the following item on the grounds that it is 
likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the 
proceedings, that if members of the public were present there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information (as defined by Section 100I of the 
Act) of the description specified in Paragraph 5 of the revised Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
Paragraph 5 – Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional 
privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings.  
 

12.  PROPERTY MATTER  (Pages 137 - 148) 
  [Portfolio Holder: Councillor Mark Merryweather] 
  
 Recommendation  

 
That the Executive agree the recommendation set out in the Exempt report.  
 

 

    
  For further information or assistance, please telephone  

Fiona Cameron, Democratic Services Manager & Deputy Monitoring 
Officer, on 01483 523226 or by email at 

fiona.cameron@waverley.gov.uk 

 

    

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

WAVERLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE 
 

1 DECEMBER 2020 

 
Title:  

 

UPDATE TO GENERAL FUND MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 2021/22 – 2024/25 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Mark Merryweather, Portfolio Holder for Finance, Assets & 

Commercial Services 
 
Head of Service: Peter Vickers, Head of Finance and Property 
 
Key decision: Yes  
 
Access:  Public  

 
 
1. Purpose and summary 
 
1.1 Following on from the Contingency Revised Budget agreed at Full Council in 

August, a commitment was made to undertake an update to the Medium Term 
Financial Plan (MTFP) including a review of the longer-term effect of the pandemic 
on the Council’s future financial resilience, taking account of the wider economic 
conditions. It was agreed that this should be reported to Council no later than its 
December meeting. 

 
1.2 This report contains the outcome of that review which has resulted in an increase to 

£7.9million in the projected net budget shortfall for the four year medium term which 
is now estimated to comprise a £17.1million  gross shortfall against which currently 
only £9.1m of compensating measures have been identified.  While Covid is one 
key direct driver in this, other consequential factors still leave an unresolved 
recurring annual deficit for 2024/25 and beyond projected at £1.2m per annum.. 
 

1.3 The principal aim of the revised MTFP is to protect core services so a one off 
repurpose of earmarked reserves in 2021/22 is likely to be necessary if government 
funding continues to fall short of meeting the full impact of COVID-19 on the 
Council’s finances. Clearly drawing on reserves to fund ongoing costs is not a 
sustainable position given that Waverley has very limited General Fund reserves. 
The budget and MTFP projections are being prepared with a range of assumptions 
made in very uncertain economic conditions therefore the figures are volatile, 
particularly with regard to the timing and extent of recovery of income streams 
impacted by the pandemic.  
 

1.4 The February 2020 MTFP already included some challenging targets supported by 
a range of strategies and it is crucial that these continue to be fully supported and 
remain the central focal point for addressing the budget shortfall.  
 

1.5 This report contains the following Annexes: 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 7



 

Annexe 1 – General Fund MTFP update at October 2020 
Annexe 2 – Contingency budget ongoing impact schedule 
Annexe 3 – Update to projected reserves position 

 
2. Recommendation 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Executive, after considering comments from the Value 

for Money Overview & Scrutiny Committee, make the following recommendations 
to Council, to: 

 
1. Approve the updated forecast and assumptions in the latest Medium Term 

Financial Plan and request that a full review of the Plan is brought to Council in 
February 2021 alongside the draft 2021/21 Budget report; and 

 
2. Agree that capital receipts are applied to fund business transformation and 

efficiency projects as allowed under the statutory provisions. 
 
3. Reason for the recommendations from Executive to Council 
 
3.1 The budget is a major decision for the Council and setting a balanced budget is a 

statutory requirement. As a result of the sudden and unexpected COVID-19 impact, 
the Council had to act quickly to take steps to address the significant projected net 
budget shortfall so that the Council can continue to function. A revised budget for 
2020/21 was set in August and Council asked that the medium term financial 
projections are updated in December, ahead of the budget setting process in 
February 2021. The Medium Term Financial Plan projects future financial 
pressures and opportunities to enable the Council to take action to ensure sufficient 
funding is in place to deliver services. 

 
4. Background 
 
4.1 The 2020/21 budget and MTFP included a range of estimates based on 

assumptions which, at the time the budget was set, were deemed to be robust and 
deliverable overall. However, the sudden, unexpected and material adverse impact 
of the COVID-19 pandemic necessitated a thorough review of the Council’s in-year 
budget which identified a projected budget deficit of £6.6million as shown in the 
summary below. The Contingency Revised Budget also highlighted the risk that the 
Council may not have yet identified all of the impacts and that the pandemic may 
not be controlled as currently envisaged, these have been addressed in the 
updated MTFP projections. 

 
Contingency Revised Budget Summary 2020/21 £ 

Leisure facilities £2.7m 

Car park income £2.0m 

Property income £0.7m 

Planning and land charges income £0.6m 

Other costs and loss of income £0.6m 

Total estimated budget deficit £6.6m 

Page 8



 

Agreed actions to address the deficit:  

Cost saving and efficiency measures £2.3m 

Government one-off grant £1.5m 

One-off  draw on reserves £2.8m 

Total  £6.6m 

 
The government has so far given the Council £1.527million of COVID-19 support 
grant towards its £6.6million 2020/21 projected budget deficit, and the Council 
estimates that it may be eligible to claim £2.3million from the government’s 
compensation scheme for lost income from fees and charges. This year’s claim is 
not certain yet and it is not clear yet if the government will continue the 
compensation scheme into next year. 

 
 Revised Budget Shortfall Summary. 
 
4.2 The Council’s MTFP has been updated to include the latest General Fund 

projections, including the reserves earmarked for specific purposes, that may have 
to be drawn upon to meet the budget shortfall. This report sets out the emerging 
pressures, risks and the projected budget shortfall over the next four years. The 
report also develops existing strategies for addressing the shortfall to protect vital 
services and put the council in a more sustainable financial position.  

 
4.3 This report does not present a balanced position and highlights a significant 

unresolved funding shortfall over the medium term and, due to the current fluidity of 
the economic conditions within which the MTFP is framed, it will be necessary for a 
further review to be considered by the Council alongside the budget setting report 
for 2021/22. 

 
The following table shows the total projected change in the forecast gross budget 
shortfall (before mitigating measures) since the MTFP was agreed in February. 
 

  2021/22 2022/23 202324 2024/25   

  Change 
from 

2020/2021 
Base 

Change 
from 

2021/2022 
Base 

Change 
from 

2022/2023 
Base 

Change 
from 

2023/2024 
Base 

Total 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Projected Shortfall Feb 2020 1,270 1,280 980* 0* 3,530 

Projected Shortfall Oct 2020 3,873 136 540 143 4,692 

Total change per year 2,603 -1,144 -440 143 1,162 

* February 2020 MTFP extended to 2023/24, the Oct 2020 revision includes 2024/25 

 
4.4 The updated MTFP projection is included in Annexe 1 which details the revised 

projections and assumptions for the four year period. This is further illustrated with 
graphs at Annexe 1.  The changes from the February position are based on a 
review of the ongoing impact of the items identified in the Contingency Revised 
Budget, new emerging issues and cost pressures. 

Page 9



 

 
Key Assumptions 

 
4.5 The detail of the estimated ongoing impact of the pandemic is included on Annexe 

2 which builds on the contingency revised 2020/21 budget. The underlying 
assumption is that the income streams will fully recover within the time period of the 
MTFP.  

 
4.6 Due to the significant financial pressures resulting from the pandemic, it will take a 

number of years for some income to recover to normal levels and therefore will 
require the identification of short or longer term measures to address this. Any 
change of use of earmarked reserves does not resolve the ongoing budget 
pressure and will require a resolution in the following year, this is represented by 
the line “Previous year net deficit” in the table above. Specific detail on the line 
items in the table is given in the following paragraphs. 

 
4.7 Inflation - including pay and contractual increases assumes that inflation will not 

increase beyond 2% in line with the Bank of England’s commitment. The inflation 
figure now includes all contractual increases resulting from non inflation related 
increases such as pay grade incremental progression and the refuse and recycling 
contractual increase resulting from growth in the property base. Inflationary 
increases on income streams such as fees and charges are included as part of the 
commercial strategy target.  

 
4.8 Waverley currently retains £2million of the £38million business rates collected as its 

core funding for general fund services. The main element of this amount, 
approximately £1.8million, is derived from a Government formula which determines 
each Council’s safety net position against its ‘baseline need’ for funding. The 
second element, approximately £0.2million, is related to the total Rateable Value 
(RV) of business premises in the borough which is affected by physical properties 
and the RV assessed by the Government’s Valuation Office. This can also fluctuate 
according to appeals from rate payers. The Government is committed to reviewing 
business rate funding for local authorities and its ‘relative needs’ calculation. 
Waverley’s MTFP forecasts significant reductions in Government funding over the 
next four years. This review has already been delayed for several years and it has 
announced recently that the review is delayed again. This delay has been reflected 
in the reprofiling of the Business Rate Retained Income reduction in the MTFP and 
relieves cost pressure in 2021/22. Officers have taken a cautious view of the 
impact of these reviews on Waverley’s budget given previous past experience of 
redistribution formula. District and borough councils across southern England 
would tell a similar tale, and further lobbying is being undertaken with local 
Members of Parliament and the Local Government Association on this issue, as the 
Government prepares its ‘Fair Funding Review’ and its proposed new policies on 
devolution. 

 
4.9      The government has indicated that the 2021/22 finance settlement will be a one 

year settlement, again. The assumtions such as the historical correction of the 
£0.8million negative grant, loss of Retained Business Rates and reduction in New 
Homes Bonus in the February MTFP are still valid. These will be covered in the 
2021/22 budget report in February 2021 when more detail is known from the 
Government. 

 

Page 10



 

4.10 Investment property contributed a £0.742million cost pressure to the Contingency 
Revised Budget before mitigation from the Investment Property Void provision. This 
pressure has been resolved by the expected resolution of the Wey Court East void, 
a number of lease regears within the current property portfolio and the anticipated 
completion of an investment property acquisition. The balance of the investment 
property £1.2million target over the MTFP period yet to be achieved is included in 
the ongoing funding identified below. 

 
4.11 Treasury management interest has been achieving an average return of 1.1% prior 

to the pandemic, netting the General Fund £0.577million. Since then the Bank of 
England reduced the base rate from 0.75% to 0.1% in March and due to the 
significant economic uncertainty the rates available on fixed term fixed rate money 
deposits has reduced to 0.2%. The immediate impact of the rate reduction is 
mitigated by the strategy in recent years to place cash deposits over longer terms 
where the rates were better. These will unwind over the next 18 months. The long 
term forecast does not indicate an increase in the base rate in the MTFP period.  

 
4.12 In common with many other councils, it is proposed that under these challenging 

financial circumstances, Waverley should take advantage of the government’s time 
limited Flexible Capital Receipts scheme to utilise capital receipts to fund business 
transformation projects that deliver efficiencies and savings. A schedule is being 
compiled of projects from the Corporate Projects list including the cost of the 
Business Transformation team. This will be submitted to government for approval.  
As this is a new policy approach, a specific recommendation has been included in 
this report.  

 
 Addressing the Budget Shortfall 
 
4.13 The cumulative deficit to be resolved by the end of the MTFP period 2025 is 

£17.1million (see annexe 1). In Feb 2020 £3.5m in mitigating savings measures 
had been identified.  In order to still achieve a sustainable and balanced budget in 
the medium term, all projected shortfalls in funding must be resolved with an 
ongoing resolution. The table below shows a summary of the profiling of the budget 
deficit and an update to the measures identified in the February plan to address 
this. The table shows a significant unresolved balance still to identify in the coming 
weeks ahead of the formal budget setting process. 

 
  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25   

  Change from 
2020/2021 

Base 

Change 
from 

2021/2022 
Base 

Change 
from 

2022/2023 
Base 

Change 
from 

2023/2024 
Base 

Total 

  £’000   £’000   £’000   £’000   £’000 

October 2020 updated  
February 2020 increase on 
previous year base 

3,873 136 540 143 4,692 

Oct 2020  updated on 
previously identified Feb 2020 
savings proposals 

-912 -929 -1,053 -595 -3,491 

Funding yet to be identified 
to be met from Government 
Funding, further savings or 

2,961 -793 -513 -452 1,201 

Page 11



 

one-off use of earmarked 
reserves 

 
The full detail is set out in Annexe 1 and specific items discussed below. 

 
Council tax 

 
4.14 The table on Annexe 1 shows three aspects to council tax income (1) an 

inflationary uplift at the maximum permissible under the governments referendum 
principles (2) a modest forecast of tax base growth that is eroded by any increase 
in the number of people claiming Council Tax Support and (3) a surplus or deficit 
on the planned collection rate each year. 

 
The amount of council tax that will be paid to each of the precepting bodies, 
including Waverley, Surrey County Council and the parish and town councils, is 
fixed for the financial year. Any variation in actual compared to estimated forecasts 
used in calculating the council tax base and/or the estimated in-year collection rate 
will impact in the following and subsequent years. For example, if Council Tax 
Support caseload and value increase above the estimated amount, or if the 
collection rate was lower than the assumed amount, the collection fund will fall into 
deficit which will be apportioned in future years. In its recent announcement, the 
Government has confirmed that it will allow councils flexibility to spread this impact 
over more than one year but the details are not yet known. Government COVID-19 
support to business in the form of reliefs and grants will be fully reimbursed and not 
impact on Waverley’s finances. The forecast included in Annexe 1 is based upon 
the council tax support caseload and the collection rate as at the end of 
September. It is too early to judge the likely total case load until January.  

 
4.15 The detail, strategy and progress behind the Investment Property, Head of Service 

cost review, Business Transformation and Commercial Strategy are adequately 
reported and available through the Value for Money Scrutiny and Executive 
minutes. The commercial strategy highlights the need to review existing income 
sources to generate additional revenue including a review of possible increments to 
all fees and charges. This will be covered in more detail as part of budget setting 
and included in the February MTFP update. 

 
4.16 Part of the package of measures within the Contingency Budget was a recruitment 

freeze to hold back on £0.6million of vacancies following on from the Management 
Board decision to suspend all non-critical recruitment, review all external staff costs 
and suspend non-urgent spending where possible. This is proving to be an 
effective interim measure to help reduce costs although it must be recognised that 
it does place pressure on services and staff and can affect performance. The ability 
to and impact of continuing with these staff budget controls beyond 2020/21 is 
being carefully considered. 

 
4.17 The non urgent expenditure review included in the Contingency Budget achieved 

£0.436million of savings, this will be considered as part of the 2021/22 budget 
setting exercise with heads of service being asked to identify the extent to which 
these savings can be repeated without impacting on essential services. 

 
4.18 The core funding for the General Fund Capital Programme is from Revenue 

Contributions from the revenue budget of £1.05million. This was reduced following 

Page 12



 

a corporate projects review under the Contingency Budget by £0.472million. Within 
the MTFP the revenue contribution may have to be scaled back again to balance 
the budget, acknowledging that this may reduce investment in existing and new 
facilities and assets. Clearly, there will be need to be a proper assessment of the 
impact of this reduction on health and safety and the potential deterioration of 
assets and this will be done as part of the budget review and updated in the 
February MTFP. 

 
 Earmarked and non-earmarked reserves and provisions. 
 
4.19 A summary of the projected impact of the pandemic on the available reserves is 

included on Annexe 3. In line with the Contingency Budget agreed 
recommendation, the additional Sales, Fees and Charges compensation grant 
(£2.3million) claimed in 2020/21 will be used to replenish the reserves. It is not yet 
certain how much of the claim will be received. 

 
4.20 The Property Investment Void provision is an important revenue mitigation 

supporting the Property Investment Strategy. Going forward this provision is 
intended to be maintained at a sufficient level to limit the impact in the event of rent 
loss due to a void period (such as Wey Court East). Until the property portfolio is 
fully established and self sustaining, it will require a contribution from the New 
Homes Bonus to replenish the provision. 

 
4.21 The future financial resilience of the council is dependant upon the availability of 

reserves to manage financial shocks such as more lockdowns. Ideally, the use of 
reserves should be limited as far as possible to mitigating the temporary impact of 
the pandemic net of any government assistance. It is important to therefore ensure 
sustainable resolutions are found where ever possible and if necessary or 
appropriate temporary measures such as a vacancy freeze to limit the need to call 
upon reserves, which should always be a last resort. 

 
 Risk and Impact 

4.22 There is a risk that, if not monitored adequately, the proposed MTFP prolonged 
vacancy freeze, reduced capital spend and pared back service costs could put 
pressure on services, particularly if the Council continues to experience further 
pressure as a result of local or national lockdowns and the predicted wider 
economic downturn.  

 
4.23 The MTFP 2021/22 projected base has accounted for a £2.6million reduction in 

income prior to subsequent recovery, this compares to £3.3million impact from the 
first lockdown (excluding leisure start up costs), which would be a reasonable 
estimate for an equivalent lockdown period in 2020/21. The equivalent government 
compensation would be £2.35million resulting in a net deficit of £0.95million. There 
is no information about the government compensation scheme in respect of 
subsequent years and the estimated income loss is accounted for in the MTFP. 

 
4.24 The biggest single budget impact of the first lockdown has been on leisure income 

and the MTFP assumes that there will be no income at all during 2021/22 and a 
steady recovery going forwards. The impact of subsequent lockdowns on the 
viability of the leisure contract will need to be closely monitored as this will be a 
significant financial impact. Car parking income was the second biggest budget 
impact with an annual income of £5.2million equating to £0.1million per week. Post 

Page 13



 

lockdown monitoring showed parking to be at 70% of pre COVID-19 capacity. 
Parking income will be zero for the duration of subsequent lockdowns, and the 
MTFP assumes the capacity usage will recover over the MTFP. Changes in 
Planning fee income are not considered to be directly related to lockdowns and 
more aligned to the macro economic climate. The remaining smaller income 
streams in total contributed an estimated £25,000 per week to the Contingency 
Budget deficit.  

 
4.25 The MTFP projections include costs for additional capacity in Housing Benefit and 

Revenues team to cover the increased workload and also additional PPE 
expenditure. This insulates the cost base to a reasonable degree from further 
lockdowns and a worsening economic climate. It is envisaged that short term 
spikes in community pandemic response teams will be resourced internally 
resulting in services levels being temporarily reduced whilst staff are deployed.  

 
4.26 The MTFP projections include a moderate recovery. Any delay or adverse change 

in the income projection profile will result in the need to draw down additional 
reserves to balance the budget.  

 
4.27 The impact in future years of Waverley needing to unexpectedly draw down 

significant value of reserves is difficult to assess but, given the £5million budget 
shortfall already projected in the medium term, these risks will put serious pressure 
on the Council’s financial resilience. In the light of the COVID-19 impact, the 
government need to urgently give clarity to councils on the continuation of the 
COVID-19 Sales, Fees and Charges compensation scheme, the business rate 
funding and address the growing risk of business rate appeals and declining 
rateable values to local council budgets. 

 
           Considerations for the 2021/22 and subsequent years budget setting 
 
4.28 Options for members to consider as part of next and subsequent years budget 

settings in the light of the challenging position are: 

 car park charges 

 other charges 

 importance of property income 

 further efficiency and business transformation, including collaboration 
opportunities with willing partners 

 council tax to be increased by the maximum level 

 funding for growth areas will be extremely challenging and require 
reprioritisation of funds and service reductions in non-critical areas 

 
5. Relationship to the Corporate Strategy and Service Plan 
 
5.1 Having a robust, sustainable budget is essential to deliver all aspects of the 

Corporate Plan. 
 
6. Implications of decision 

6.1 Resource (Finance, procurement, staffing, IT) - covered above  
 

6.2 Risk management – covered above 

Page 14



 

  
6.3 Legal 

The Coronavirus Act came into force on 25 March 2020, and since that date the 
government has introduced a significant amount of secondary legislation (statutory 
instruments) that has required the Council to change the way in which its services 
are delivered; required partner organisations and contractors to change their 
operational pattern, or temporarily cease operations altogether; and placed 
additional temporary functions within the Council’s statutory powers, including 
additional enforcement powers in relation to businesses and additional 
homelessness duties. 
 
Throughout this period the Council’s Legal Services team has supported the 
Council’s COVID-19 response by providing advice in relation to any and all 
suspended, additional and revised discretionary and non-discretionary functions, to 
ensure the Council has continued to operate lawfully in accordance with both 
existing and COVID-19-related legislation. 
 
Over the coming months as the impacts of the effect of COVID-19 continue to be 
evaluated, that advice will continue so as to enable the Council to function lawfully 
in circumstances where the financial resources available to its non-discretionary 
and discretionary services are under far greater pressure than anticipated when the 
2020/21 budget was set. Any and all further legislative changes and statutory 
guidance will be assessed and the Council’s service supported with advice targeted 
to those changes, including through the Recovery, Change and Transformation 
programme. 
 

6.4 Equality, diversity and inclusion 
 

There are no direct equality, diversity or inclusion implications in this report. Equality 
impact assessments are carried out when necessary across the council to ensure 
service delivery meets the requirements of the Public Sector Equality Duty under 
the Equality Act 2010. 
 

6.5 Climate emergency declaration 
 

There are no direct implications arising from this report but reference is made to the 
need for the main budget proposals to address the resource requirement for the 
emerging climate change action plan. The current proposals retain in full the budget 
allocated to support the delivery of the action plan. 

 
7. Consultation and engagement 
 
7.1 As with the contingency budget in July/August, the revised MTFP was considered by 

the Value for Money Overview & Scrutiny Committee for discussion and scrutiny at 
their meeting on 16 November. There will also be an all-member briefing on the 
subject to enable councillors to receive a presentation on the main issues and ask 
questions ahead of the Council meeting in December. A separate briefing for O&S 
councillors was held in September specifically on reserves and provisions. Officers 
have been working with the Staff side/Union in the formation of the Recovery, 
Change and Transformation programme and this work will continue. In parallel to 
the council’s scrutiny and decision making process, officers will discuss the position 
and proposals with Grant Thornton, Waverley’s external auditors.  

Page 15



 

 
7.2 The Value for Money Overview & Scrutiny Committee asked for the presentation of 

the figures to be changed in order to show the gross baseline position, so that the 
significance of the year of year changes was more apparent. The Committee asked 
questions about the assumptions underpinning the estimates for leisure centre and 
property investment income going forward; and also the impact of changes in staff 
working arrangements on staffing costs. The Committee also reminded the 
Executive of the suggestions made in July regarding potential cost-saving 
measures. The Committee asked for an off-line briefing on the Council’s reserves 
and provisions ahead of consideration of the formal budget-setting in January 2021. 

 
8. Other options considered 
 
8.1 The report is an update to previously agreed projections. A range of assumptions 

have been made in the financial projections and a number of options are set out in 
the report and annexe for consideration by the Council in the coming weeks ahead 
of the budget setting meeting in February 2021.  

 
9. Governance journey 
 
9.1 This report will be considered by the Executive following scrutiny by the VFM O&S 

Committee. Full Council will receive the Executive’s recommendation at its meeting 
in December. 

 

 
Background Papers 
 
There are no background papers, as defined by Section 100D(5) of the Local Government 
Act 1972).  

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 
 
Name: Graeme Clark 
Position: Strategic Director and Section 151 Officer 
Telephone: 0148 3523099 
Email:  graeme.clark@waverley.gov.uk 
 
Name: Peter Vickers 
Position: Head of Finance and Property 
Telephone: 01483 523539 
Email:  peter.vickers@waverley.gov.uk 
 

Page 16



Annexe 1
2020/21 

revised

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Contingency 

revised 

budget

Change 

from 

2020/21 

Feb Base

Change 

from 

2021/22 

Base

Change 

from 

2022/23 

Base

Change 

from 

2023/24 

Base

Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Anticipated Budget Variations

Contingency budget, on going impact 5,894 2,777 -1,226 -722 -840 -11

Inflation and contractual increases 478 524 569 616 2,187

Housing benefit admin grant 0 30 30 30 90

Business Rate Retained Income 0 700 700 400 1,800

Investment Properties 742 -460 -262 -100 -822

Treasury management interest 298 150 448

One off capital receipts funding for Business Transformation team -220 220 0

Borough Elections Reserve 2020/21 deferred contribution 63 -63 0

Income volatility provision:  8 weeks income loss 1,000 1,000

Budget Shortfall 6,636 3,873 136 540 143 4,692

From Feb Base 3,873 4,009 4,549 4,692

Total over MTFP 7,882 12,431 17,123

Addressing the Budget Shortfall
Council tax increase - 1.9%/1.99% -207 -240 -273 -307 -1,027

Council tax change in tax base -28 -28 -28 -28 -112

Council tax collection fund surplus / deficit 120 -40 -40 -40 0

Investment Property income target - Balance of £1.2m -340 -38 -200 -578

Head of Service Cost Review 2019/20 ongoing impact -191 -63 -13 0 -267

Business Transformation -121 -400 -379 -100 -1,000

Commercial Strategy -145 -120 -120 -120 -505

Staff salaries: vacancy saving from a recruitment freeze -600 0 0

Cancelled revenue contributions to reserves -510 0 0

Reduction in revenue contribution to capital -472 0 0

On going base budget reductions -1,582 -912 -929 -1,053 -595 -3,491

From Feb Base -912 -1,842 -2,895 -3,491

Total over MTFP -2,754 -5,649 -9,140

Budget Shortfall: recurrent deficit 5,054 2,961 2,167 1,654 1,201 7,983

Total over MTFP 5,128 6,782 7,983

GENERAL FUND MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN: October 2020

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Annexe 1 

 

 

 

 

 

(40.0) (30.0) (20.0) (10.0) 0.0 10.0 20.0 30.0 40.0

2019/20

Original 2020/21

Original 2021/22

Original 2022/23

Original 2023/24

Original Medium Term Financial Plan (£m)
Ending 2023/24

Summary (Gross Service Cost)

Council Tax Retained Business Rates & Grants Fees, Charges & Rent Income Gross Service Cost Net Reserve Transfers

(40.0) (30.0) (20.0) (10.0) 0.0 10.0 20.0 30.0 40.0

Original 2020/21

Revised 2020/21

Updated 2021/22

Updated 2022/23

Updated 2023/24

New 2024/25

Medium Term Financial Plan Update (£m)
Ending 2024/25

Summary (Gross Service Cost)

Council Tax Retained Business Rates & Grants Fees, Charges & Rent Income Unresolved Deficit Gross Service Cost Net Reserve Transfers

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Annexe 2
Contingency 

revised budget

2020/21 revised 2021/2022 2022/2023 2023/2024 2024/2025

Contingency budget, on going impact

in year change 

from 2020/2021 

Base

Change from 

2020/2021 

Original 

Base

Change from 

2021/2022 

Base

Change from 

2022/2023 

Base

Change from 

2023/2024 

Base

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Planning Income Pressure 454 250 -250 0 Based upon performance against contingency budget, assumes will recover due to 

development pressure in Local Plan. 

Leisure Centres 2,744 523 -177 -177 -169 0 Assumes recovery will graduate back up to 2024/25

Car Parks General 1,994 1,590 -590 -500 -500 0 Assumes 30% down pre COVID-19 on £5.2m budget, reflects monitoring at end of 

Sept

Land Charges 106 50 -50 0 Reflects monitoring end of Sept. Assume property sales will fully recover

Parks and Countryside 59 0 0 Will be contained within business as usual budgets

Borough Hall 56 25 -25 0 Nursery is back, larger events are challenging due to social distancing

Building Control 46 46 -46 0 Reflects contingency budget, this is panning out as estimated, assume will recover 

due to Approved Inspectors exiting the market

Memorial Hall 38 38 -38 0 Biggest income is weddings, will be restricted for a period of time

Careline 23 25 -25 0 Removal of supporting people funding and assumes service growth will be achieved 

Council Tax and Business Rates debt summons 

charges

83 123 -25 -25 -65 8 Courts not functioning and COVID-19impact on ability to enforce debt recovery due 

to hardship.

Financial Expenses -40 0 0 COVID-19 impact on car parks closure reduced transaction cost, this will return to a 

normal level.

Green Waste Recycling -19 -19 -19 Increase in take up on service

COVID-19 - PPE 9 20 -20 0 Will be required ongoing at £1,600 per month

COVID-19 - Additional Staffing Revenues and Housing 

benefits

205 106 -106 0 COVID-19 impact on tax recovery capacity

COVID-19 - Admin Town and Parish contribution from 

grant 

80 0 One off contribution

COVID-19 - Additional cleaning staff 40 0 Going forward will be contained within original budget

COVID-19 - Biffa bring site additional servicing 37 0

Other small variances -22 0

Debt write off provisions 0 Assess this in December alongside Collection Fund estimates

Council Tax hardship relief 0 Rely upon the government funding before committing Waverley budget

Investment Properties 742 Contingency budget gross of void provision drawdown

Total: Contingency budget, on going impact 6,635 2,777 -1,226 -722 -840 -11

Contingency budget, on going impact

P
age 21



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Annexe 4 – Update to projected reserves position

Update to projected reserves position Annexe 3
2020/21 2020/21 revised 2021/2022

Pre COVID-

19 balance

Contingency 

revised budget

Projected 

opening reserves 

2021/2022

Earmarked reserves: £`000 £`000 £`000

Flexible Homelessness Support Grant (974) 474 (500)

Commercial Property Void provision (425) 425 0

Emergency Funding (17) 17 (0)

Climate change (300) 0 (300)

Brightwells reserve - licence from Dogflud (311) 296 (16)

Local Plan reserve (236) 0 (236)

Place shaping (320) 188 (132)

Investment Advisory Board (2,432) 418 (2,014)

Revenue Reserve Fund - Capital Programme funding (197) 0 (197)

Insurance reserve - MMI run off (188) 0 (188)

Insurance reserves (566) 0 (566)

Borough Elections reserve (63) 0 (63)

Business Rates Equalisation reserve (3,850) 649 (3,201)

SANG site acquisition (1,000) 200 (800)

Total Earmarked Reserves: (10,880) 2,668 (8,212)

General Fund working balance: min balance £3.2m * (3,406) 206 (3,200)

Total General Fund Useable Revenue Reserves (14,286) 2,874 (11,412)

*  2020/21 Sales, Fees and charges compensation claimed of £2.3m, will be used to replenish reserves.

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



 

WAVERLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE 
1 DECEMBER 2020 

 
 

 
Title:  

Revised Waverley Corporate Strategy 2020-2025 

 

 
Portfolio Holders: Cllr John Ward, Cllr Paul Follows 
 
Head of Service: Robin Taylor, Head of Policy & Governance 
 
Key decision: No 
 
Access:  Public  

 
 
1. Purpose and summary 
 
1.1 A review of the Corporate Strategy has been undertaken over the last six months 

and this report presents the outcome of the consultation process and the 
resulting Corporate Strategy for adoption.  

 
2. Recommendation 
 

It is recommended that the Executive recommend the Corporate Strategy, set 
out at Annexe 1, to Council for adoption at its 15 December Full Council meeting. 
 

3. Reason for the recommendation 
 
 To adopt a revised Corporate Strategy taking into account the new challenges 

facing the Council over the next few years.  
 
4. Background 
 
4.1 The Council’s Corporate Strategy is of significant importance for setting the 

direction of the Council for the next five years. It sits above all other strategies 
and policies and informs the service delivery and business programme for 
council services. The delivery mechanism for the Strategy is an action plan 
which in turn is reflected in the Service Plans for each service area. These Plans 
are also an essential part of the performance management framework. Each 
member of staff will have agreed annual targets in order to ensure the effective 
delivery of the Council’s strategic priorities. 

 
4.2   The current Corporate Strategy was first published in 2019 and since then the 

Council has faced the significant impact of the coronavirus pandemic, the 
recession, continuing uncertainties over Brexit, possible Government devolution 
proposals and the overall financial implications of all of these.  The Corporate 
Strategy has been reviewed in order to be ready to respond to these 

Page 25

Agenda Item 8



 

uncertainties.  
 
4.3   The Corporate Strategy has been considered by each of the Overview & Scrutiny 

Committees during the November cycle and the following comments have been 
put forward for consideration: 

 
 Environment O&S - 11 November 2020: 

 Reservations were expressed about the vision being a list of 
statements rather than one concise vision statement. 

 The safety of residents wasn’t expressed strongly enough.  

 Priorities should be ‘Strategic Priorities’ 
  
 Value for Money O&S - 16 November 2020 

 More detail needed on Environment and Housing sections.   

 Reservation about the vision not being able to be envisaged.   

 Suggest it should be ‘Strategic Objectives’ 
 

 Community Wellbeing O&S – 17 November 2020 

 Consideration of mental health should be made more strongly including 
suicide prevention 

 Safety of residents should be made more strongly 

 A good action plan is needed 
 

 Housing O&S – 23 November 2020 
 
 To be reported. 
 
5. Relationship to the Corporate Strategy and Service Plan 
 
5.1 This report details the revised Corporate Strategy proposals. 
  
6. Implications of decision 
 
6.1 Resource (Finance, procurement, staffing, IT)  

The financial implications of the new strategy, if adopted, will drive changes in 
the Medium Term Financial Plan and the Annual Budget which will be taken 
through the committee process separately. The strategy puts importance in 
careful financial management and affordability of plans.  
 

6.2 Risk management 
The scrutiny process gives an opportunity to examine the potential risks arising 
from the corporate objectives. The Corporate Performance Report allows for an 
ongoing assessment of any risks as a result of underperformance and the 
monitoring of improvement or mitigation actions put in place to address potential 
issues. 

  
6.3 Legal 
           There are no legal implications arising directly from this report. 
 
6.4 Equality, diversity and inclusion 

The equality impact assessment undertaken on the original Corporate Strategy 
will be reviewed and any implications brought to the attention of the Executive. 

Page 26



 

 
6.5 Climate emergency declaration 

The Corporate Strategy sets out the Council’s environmental and sustainability 
objectives and how these will be delivered through the Action Plan.  

 
7. Consultation and engagement 
 
7.1 Two Corporate Strategy Councillor workshops were held on 7th and 9th 

September and the draft Strategy was presented to the September cycle of O&S 
meetings. Further feedback was obtained on the revised version from the 
November cycle of Overview & Scrutiny meetings and these comments are set 
out at 4.3 above. 

 
8. Other options considered 
 
8.1 None.  
 
9. Governance journey 
 
9.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committees passed on their comments and 

recommendations to the Executive who will consider any final changes before 
the Strategy is considered for approval by Council in December.   

 
Annexes: 
 
Annexe 1 – Revised Corporate Strategy 2020-2025 

 
Background Papers 
 
There are / are no background papers, as defined by Section 100D(5) of the Local 
Government Act 1972).  

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 
Name:  Louise Norie 
Position:  Corporate Policy Manager 
Telephone: 0148 3523464 
Email:  louise.norie@waverley.gov.uk 
 
Agreed and signed off by:  
Legal Services: N/A 
Head of Finance:   
Strategic Director:  
Portfolio Holder: 30 October 2020 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Corporate Strategy 2020-25 

Introduction by Leader and Deputy Leader 

Since our Corporate Strategy was first published in 2019 we have all experienced 

unprecedented change and challenge. In particular, as well as maintaining our 

critical services, Waverley Borough Council has done an amazing job in responding 

to the coronavirus pandemic, supporting the vulnerable in our community and 

helping local businesses, alongside the health and emergency services and other 

councils.  

Despite facing further uncertainty, we felt that now is a good time to review our 

objectives as a council and to reflect on the work and measures we have put in place 

to ensure the continued delivery of our services. Some of these measures have 

created new opportunities to work in different and more agile ways. 

We are facing huge uncertainties and our revised Strategy needs to consider how 

this Council will respond to these uncertainties in order to protect service delivery 

and the interests of our residents. 

Financial Management 

Before coronavirus, we were facing a large financial challenge due to cuts in 

government funding. Through careful financial management we put measures in 

place through our Medium Term Financial Plan to secure continued service delivery 

and to respond to the emergency of climate change. However, as a result of the 

pandemic we are now facing further financial challenges and the likelihood that the 

local economy and employment will be impacted by recession. We have maintained   

ambitious objectives in our revised strategy; however, we recognise that these will 

need to be affordable so our plans will be costed carefully to secure our desired 

outcomes. We will maximise the use of our assets and work imaginatively to source 

income, including grants and other funding, whilst protecting those on low incomes.  

Devolution 

At the time of reviewing our strategy the Government’s proposals on devolution were 

unknown.  However, should proposals be forthcoming we would want a solution that 

is in the best interests of Waverley’s residents as we value the importance of 

delivering services locally and on a scale where knowledge of community matters. 

We do not consider one single authority covering the whole of Surrey’s 1.2 million 

inhabitants, such as the scheme suggested by Surrey County Council, is the best 

option for residents. Waverley Borough Council passed a resolution in favour of a 

more localist approach and against such a large unitary authority and we will 

therefore be working collaboratively with other Surrey councils to secure the best 

outcome for our residents both financially and in terms of locally focused services.  

Health and Wellbeing 

This strategy recognises that the impact of the pandemic may well last for some time 

and will continue to have an effect on the health and wellbeing of our residents, 

many of whom are elderly. Through the work we have done on understanding health 

Page 29



2 
 

inequalities we know we can make a positive impact on the wider determinants of 

health such as housing, employment and lifestyle choices. Health outcomes vary 

widely throughout the borough and it is ever more important that we continue to work 

closely with our partners in the health and social care services, neighbouring 

councils, emergency services, cultural and leisure providers and the voluntary and 

faith sectors to protect and support our residents to live long and healthy lives.  

Climate Emergency 

In September 2019 the Council declared a climate emergency with an aim to 

becoming a carbon-neutral council by 2030, within the financial and other constraints 

laid upon us. Our determination to take urgent action to reduce carbon emissions 

and conserve biodiversity is embedded in our Corporate Strategy and continues to 

be an overarching aim. The climate impact of some of our decisions in the coming 

months and years may not be evident immediately but we are confident that our 

Climate Emergency Action Plan will ultimately produce beneficial results for our 

communities. This is not something we can do alone and we will be working with the 

local community, parish and town councils and all other relevant agencies to support 

making the entire area carbon-neutral by 2030 – as well as encouraging residents to 

do their bit to help create a greener, more sustainable and environmentally-friendly 

borough.  

Achieving the target will require additional powers, funding and other resources from 

central government, so the council will be seeking opportunities to make the case for 

these to local MPs, Ministers and government agencies. 

Our Commitment 

Despite the uncertainties facing us in the coming years we will work hard to support 

our communities to withstand the economic and social pressures facing us by 

delivering services which are more resilient, accessible and ultimately stronger as a 

result of our experiences in the last year. In order to realise our vision and objectives 

a Corporate Strategy Action Plan will demonstrate the progress made and the 

outcomes achieved. 

 

Signed 

Leader          Deputy Leader 

  

Page 30



3 
 

Vision 

Waverley Borough Council is an authority which promotes and sustains: 

 open, democratic and participative governance  

 the value and worth of all residents, with opportunities for all, regardless of 

race, age, disability, religion, gender or sexual orientation, income or wealth 

 high quality public services accessible for all 

 a financially sound Waverley, with infrastructure and resilient services fit for 

the future 

 a strong, resilient local economy, supporting local businesses and 

employment  

 housing to buy and to rent, for those at all income levels  

 effective strategic planning and development management which supports the 

planning and infrastructure needs of local communities 

 a sense of responsibility by all for our environment, promoting biodiversity, 

championing the green economy and protecting our planet 

 the health and wellbeing of our communities. 

 

Our priorities:  

 Local, open, participative government  

 Supporting a strong, resilient local economy 

 Taking action on Climate Emergency and protecting the environment 

 Good quality housing for all income levels and age groups 

 Effective strategic planning and development management to meet the needs 

of our communities 

 Improving the health and wellbeing of our residents and communities 

(for illustrative purposes only) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Local, open, 

participative 

government  

 

Supporting a 

strong local 

economy 

 

Taking 

action on 

Climate 

Emergency 

and 

protecting 

the 

environment 

 

Good quality 

housing for 

all income 

levels and 

age groups 

 

Effective 

strategic 

planning  and 

development 

management 

to meet the 

needs of our 

communities 

 

Improving the 

health and 

wellbeing of 

our residents 

and 

communities 

 

Financial Sustainability 

Page 31



4 
 

We cannot achieve our priorities without a sound financial future achieved by careful 

budgeting and a robust Medium Term Financial Plan. This will depend on making 

significant savings in expenditure in the next few years as well as securing new 

income, funding and grant opportunities.  

We will deliver savings through a major change programme in the next three years 

as well as implementing robust Commercial and Investment Strategies. However, 

central government has a vital role to play in providing financial certainty for local 

government and we will be lobbying them to secure a fair and future proofed 

financial settlement.  

 

Local, open, participative government  

We are committed to an open, inclusive approach to communications and decision-

making.  

We will achieve this by:   

 continuing to ensure easy access to council meetings either on-line or in 

person with opportunities for public speaking;  

 encouraging participation in local democracy by everyone in the community 

including local forums to consider current issues.  

 

A strong, resilient local economy 

We will support new and existing businesses and seek to attract new enterprises and 

employment opportunities focusing on economic, social and environmental outcomes. 

We will achieve this by: 

 implementing Waverley’s Economic Development Strategy 2018-32  and 

the Economic Development COVID-19 Action Plan 2020/21 

 actively engaging and supporting local businesses, both large and small 

to understand business needs 

 working with partners such as the Enterprise M3 Local Economic 

Partnership to promote the borough to new businesses and to identify 

sources of funding and support. 

 

Climate Emergency and the environment 

Our aim is to become a net zero-carbon council by 2030, encouraging carbon 

reduction and the promotion of biodiversity and sustainable homes, businesses and 

transport across the borough.  

We will achieve this by: 

 implementing Waverley’s Climate Emergency Action Plan 

 promoting reduction and re-use as well as recycling so as to achieve our targets 

on household waste and recycling 

Page 32



5 
 

 promoting a pedestrian-friendly and cycle-friendly transport network   

 taking action on air quality issues, especially those caused by vehicle 

emissions, and encouraging zero-carbon buses and taxis 

 working with partners to ensure the environmental stewardship of our open 

spaces are of the highest quality including the promotion of biodiversity, 

rewilding and the phasing out of pesticide use other than in exceptional and 

defined circumstances 

 making Waverley Borough Council a zero carbon organisation, including the 

offices and other assets, by working with staff and partners to implement carbon 

reduction schemes and other projects.  

 

Good quality housing for all income levels and age groups 

We will optimise the availability of housing that meets the needs of local people at all 

income levels and which is sustainable and energy efficient.  

We will achieve this by: 

 delivering Waverley’s new Housing Strategy to ensure homes are the right 

homes in the right places and that they are truly affordable for those who need 

them 

 preventing homelessness and meeting housing needs, including needs for 

supported accommodation and housing for older people 

 working in partnership with social housing providers to deliver good quality 

homes, building and managing communities which are sustainable in the long 

term  

 continuing to secure affordable housing on new developments in line with 

planning policy and ensuring developers meet their planning obligations. 

 

We aim to be the best council landlord in the South East and to be acknowledged so 

by our tenants. 

We will achieve this by: 

 ensuring all our tenants have a safe, warm, high quality, energy efficient and 

affordable home 

 providing services and support that our tenants need 
 ensuring all new homes on council land achieve energy efficiency level A 

 ensuring the service is financially robust to support improvements to our 
homes and the building of new homes 

 

Effective strategic planning and Development Management to meet 

the needs of our communities 

Our aim is to ensure that our Local Plan and neighbourhood plans are consistent with 

meeting local needs and protecting the natural environment. 

We will achieve this by: 

 delivering Local Plan Part 2 by December 2021  

Page 33



6 
 

 supporting the production of Neighbourhood Plans which are consistent with 

local needs 

 engaging with central government to influence the outcome of the ‘Planning 

for the Future’ proposals to safeguard good development in the borough 

 spending the Community Infrastructure Levy fairly and transparently to deliver  

the strategic and local community infrastructure necessary to support growth  

Major Projects 

We will continue to work with Crest Nicholson and Surrey County Council to achieve 

the best possible outcomes for residents from the Brightwells regeneration scheme 

and we will support Dunsfold Aerodrome Ltd to deliver Dunsfold Park Garden 

Village. 

Health and wellbeing of our residents 

We will use our power and resources to protect the health and wellbeing of all our 

residents, especially our vulnerable residents, during the coronavirus pandemic and 

afterwards, to support the capacity of our health services and to mitigate the 

negative effects of the recession.  

We will achieve this by: 

 having robust business continuity plans in place to meet future emergencies 

and challenges to our ability to deliver services 

 working closely with the Local Resilience Forum  

 

Through the wide variety of services we provide we will seek to reduce health 

inequalities and support our communities by 

 supporting affordable access to cultural, sports and leisure facilities, open 

spaces and recreational areas 

 delivering improvements to services across the borough, focusing on health 

inequalities and where need is greatest 

 continuing to support and work in partnership with our community 

stakeholders, voluntary and faith organisations to provide vital services to our 

most vulnerable residents  

 working closely with Health, hospitals and general practitioners, social care 

and neighbouring councils through the partnerships already in existence to 

achieve a more joined up approach for the whole borough to improve the 

health and wellbeing of all our residents 

 using our strategic housing and landlord role to provide healthy homes and to 

support and guide social housing providers in improving resident wellbeing 

 supporting the most vulnerable in our communities, particularly those 

experiencing social isolation, loneliness and poor mental health 

 paying benefits quickly and efficiently, in accordance with targets, to support 

those on low incomes 

 supporting an increasing number of young people into employment through 

Waverley Training Services and apprenticeships  

Page 34



7 
 

 improving and developing engagement through the Safer Waverley 
Partnership with all stakeholders to better control crime and anti-social 
behaviour 

 
New Ways of Working 

As a result of the coronavirus pandemic, we have had to adopt new agile ways of 
working which has brought a number of benefits.  

We have been able to conduct our council meetings on-line whilst continuing to web 

cast them and we have enabled all our staff to work effectively from home.  We will 

continue to embrace new technology to increase working efficiency through the 

delivery of our ICT Strategy. As part of this strategy we have formed a new 

centralised customer service team which will improve our capacity to respond to 

customers quickly and efficiently. Through our enhanced use of technology we can 

also reduce our reliance on paper by largely phasing out printed agendas and 

reports by December 2022, continuing and enhancing suitable arrangements where 

appropriate. This will support our cost reduction and climate and sustainability 

strategy but will be dependant on the control of the Covid virus and resumption of 

"live" meetings.  

We will also continue to explore shared opportunities with other local authorities to 

work at scale where there are benefits to be achieved for our residents. 

In order to meet changing circumstances we will embrace new ways of working 
whilst maintaining standards, improving public participation and caring for our staff.  

 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



 

WAVERLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 
 

1 DECEMBER 2020 

 
Title: Carbon Neutrality Action Plan 2020-2030 

 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Williams, Portfolio Holder for Environment and Sustainability 
 
Head of Service: Richard Homewood, Head of Environmental and Regulatory 

Services  
 
Key decision: Yes  
 
Access:  Public  
  

 
 
1. Purpose and summary 
 

1.1. In September 2019, the Council joined a growing number of Councils that made 
a commitment to taking urgent action to address Climate Change and aim to 
become Carbon Neutral by 2030. We committed to becoming a carbon neutral 
council and doing everything in our power to ensure that Waverley is a zero 
carbon borough by 2030. Officers are working towards significantly reducing 
Waverley’s impact on climate change and will strive to get as close as possible to 
carbon neutrality.  

 
1.2. This report presents Waverley’s Strategic Carbon Neutrality Action Plan 2020-

2030 (Annexe 1) and the Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy (Annexe 2) 
bringing together input from all Council services and the wider public through a 
consultation that took place between September and October 2020. The action 
plan sets out the objectives and measures that will be taken in order to achieve 
the Councils carbon neutrality commitment. The Strategy is the overarching 
strategic document with links to all areas of work that have an impact on 
environmental sustainability.   

 
1.3. The action plan will be a living document, the actions within it will evolve and 

change throughout its life as new budgets and external funding opportunities 
become available or changes in technology take place to permit further work.  

 
2. The Strategy 
 

 
2.1. The purpose of this Strategy is to provide an overarching framework to guide the 

Council in integrating and coordinating the principles of sustainability and the 
need to reduce carbon emissions across all its strategies, plans, policies and 
actions and, in turn, to influence and provide direction on sustainability issues to 
the businesses and residents of Waverley.   

2.2. The Strategy Aims to “Promote and sustain a sense of responsibility by all for our 

Page 37

Agenda Item 9



 

environment, promoting biodiversity, championing the green economy and 
protecting our planet.” 
 

 
3. The Action Plan 

 
3.1. The Carbon Neutrality Action Plan (CNAP) takes a holistic view of sustainability 

not only addressing energy and fuel consumption from council operations, but 
also the way we are managing waste, improving the quality of housing in the 
borough, improve air quality, using the planning system to deliver change and 
identify opportunities to offset carbon through managing greenspaces. Getting 
our house in order is an important element of the plan but also leading and 
encouraging the wider community to consider how they can become more 
carbon conscious in their daily activities.  

 
3.2. The carbon impact of delivering all the actions contained within the action plan 

have not been fully quantified yet. This is due to the complexity of the work 
required and the wide variety of elements within it. We have set high-level targets 
that we will work towards reaching, by identifying the most achievable pathways. 
Whilst some of the actions are worked up enough to be able to demonstrate 
carbon savings from delivery, many are not yet at that point and will require 
further work. In order to prioritise resources and maintain focus the plan has 
been divided in Short, Medium and Long term actions. While our immediate 
efforts will be put in the short-term actions, we will continue planning for the 
medium and long-term ones. A “scoring” system for cost and carbon impact has 
also been introduced that uses broad assumtions to provide an indication of the 
scale of investment required and carbon saving achieved for each action. 

 
3.3. The Council recognises the magnitude of achieving the 2030 net zero target and 

acknowledges that it has limited powers, responsibilities, resources and finances. 
Although our role as a community leader is a very important one, this ambitious 
target cannot be delivered without major changes in national policies, further 
funding availability and close working with key partners. The council’s role is to 
deliver where it can, to enable and support the community and partners to take 
action, to lobby and push change in policy, legislation and funding to enable 
carbon neutrality.  

   
3.4. The journey to becoming carbon neutral offers great opportunities but also 

comes with many challenges and limitations, some of which are outlined below. 
While we have direct control over the environmental impact of the Council’s 
operations and assets there are still important decisions and considerations that 
have to be taken that will involve competing priorities. 

 
3.4.1. The Council is facing significant financial pressures therefore budgets will    

have to be considered very carefully. Energy efficiency comes with a cost 
and the Council will need to consider quality over quantity. In most cases 
though, energy efficiency also delivers a return on investment so those 
opportunities should be prioritised first.  

 
3.4.2. The Council has limited resources in terms of staff time and in-house 

expertise. Significant consideration should be given on how teams are 
resourced and equipped to deliver the commitments outlined within the 

Page 38



 

action plan. External consultancy support will be sought to develop the 
more technically complex elements of the action plan. 

 
3.4.3. While there is a lot of innovation in low carbon technologies and 

renewables, most of it is not yet at a stage to be widely rolled out and in 
many cases unaffordable.  

 
3.4.4. Partner/stakeholder engagement is a significant element of the action 

plan delivery and this comes with its own challenges, as different 
organisational priorities could be in conflict. The Council outsources its 
biggest services, which will require negotiation with contractors in order for 
them to share our carbon aspirations.  

 
3.4.5. The Council and its residents will continue to rely on grid gas and 

electricity and until the grid can provide 100% green energy the task of 
becoming carbon neutral as a borough will be challenging. 

 
3.5. The plan will be continually evolving and progress updates will be reported 

annually. 
 

 
 

4. Public Consultation 
 
4.1. To inform this important action plan the council launched a public consultation in 

September 2020 and invited the wider community to have a say in how it 
prioritise actions to become carbon neutral by 2030.  
 

4.2. A total of 965 people responded to the consultation. Some of the key findings are 
summarised below. A more detailed summary is attached in (Annexe 3).  

 

 78% of participants felt it was “very important” and an additional 16.5% felt 
that climate change was “quite important” 

 94% would welcome more opportunities for recycling and upcycling to help 
them reduce their own carbon footprint  

 90% felt that the council and its contractors should switch to low carbon 
transport 

 90% felt that new council properties should be built to carbon neutral 
standards.  

 Lack of infrastructure and facilities were seen as the greatest barrier to being 
environmentally friendly.  

 88% felt it is “extremely or very important” for the Council to lead by example 
and take action and 89% felt that the Council should prioritised reducing their 
own emissions first. 

 
 

5. Funding the action plan 
 
5.1. Financing the delivery of the CNAP will be a major hurdle to overcome. Over the 

coming year, the Council will work to explore different funding mechanisms, 
opportunities and investments to help support delivery of this Action Plan. 
 

Page 39



 

5.2. The Council allocated a budget of £100k to support the ongoing delivery of the 
Climate Emergency Action Plan and £200k that can be spent on specific 
projects. However, such an ambitious plan cannot be delivered by taxpayers 
money alone. Officers will have to be proactive in identifying external funding 
opportunities. Considering a carbon-offsetting fund from the Community 
Infrastructure Levey (CIL) contributions could also generate funding for the 
delivery of the carbon neutral plan.  

 
5.3. Creating a ring-fenced budget from savings achieved through energy efficiency 

investment should also be considered carefully.  
 

 
 

6. Governance 
 
6.1. To succeed in achieving net zero carbon it is important to demonstrate 

leadership and adopt a strong governance structure for delivery. It is 
recommended that the following structure is put in place: 
 

6.1.1. Executive Committee – will ultimately be responsible for the delivery of the 
action plan, making key decisions to enable progress.  
 

6.1.2. Climate Emergency Board – chaired by the Environment Portfolio holder 
this strategic group will closely monitor the progress of the action plan and 
assist with removing barriers for delivery. The Board will meet quarterly and 
the outcomes of the meetings will be reported to the Executive in the same 
frequency or as appropriate. The following board membership is proposed:  

Strategic Director(s) Environment portfolio holder 
(Chair) 

Environment Head of Service Finance portfolio holder 

Sustainability Team  Housing portfolio holder 

Officers when required to provide 
progress updates within their area. 

Economic Development portfolio 
holder 

 Three other elected members from 
the existing advisory group 

           

It is proposed that this group replaces the advisory group currently in 
place.  

6.1.3. A Climate Emergency Officer Group is already in place consisting of heads 
of service and service managers and the sustainability team with the purpose 
of developing and delivering of the action plan. This group will meet every 4-
6 weeks.  

 
6.1.4. The Environment O&S committee will receive annual updates once the 

action plan has been approved. 
 

Page 40



 

7. Conclusions 
 
7.1. Over the next 10 years, the Council will strive to become carbon neutral and this 

ambitious target will require a lot of change within existing practices and policies. 
Embedding carbon reductions in strategic decision-making, procurement, 
budgets and Council policies is a vital part of the action plan delivery.  
 

7.2. The Councils role is to lead by example and support our community to reduce 
their impact on Climate Change, to raise awareness and attempt to influence 
national government to radically change policies. The delivery of the action plan 
will heavily rely on partnership working, external funding, government support 
and technological innovation. 

 
7.3. The projects within the action plan require further investigation and quantification 

to offer a true reflection of the costs involved and this is not an easy or a quick 
task. Separating the action plan in Short, Medium and Long term actions will help 
focus on quantifying those actions that are likely to be delivered first, while at the 
same time continue developing the medium and long term actions. The action 
plan presented will be continually evolving and adapting to changes.  

 
7.4. The journey to becoming carbon neutral could offer exciting opportunities but 

also carries significant challenges that will result in difficult dilemmas. The 
consultation feedback reassures that climate change and its impact is important 
to the majority of our residents and that reducing the council’s own emissions 
should be a priority.   

 
7.5. The delivery of the action plan will be funded through a combination of Council 

funds, external grants and funding opportunities. 
 

7.6. Strong governance structure is important for the successful delivery of this action 
plan. An annual review of the plan with progress updates will be presented to 
Environment O&S in September 2021 and the Executive in October 2021.  

 
8. Recommendation 

 
It is recommended that the Executive:  

 
a. Approves final Strategic Carbon Neutrality Action Plan 2020-2030 attached 

in Annexe 1, including the high-level targets within it, and acknowledges 
that it will be an evolving document. 
 

b. Approves the final Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy in Annexe 2 
 

c. Endorses the governance structure proposed, including the membership of 
the Climate Emergency Board. 
 

d. Notes the responses within the consultation summary which is attached in 
Annexe 3. 

 
 

9. Reason for the recommendation 
 

Page 41



 

To adopt the final Strategic Carbon Neutrality Action Plan 2020-2030 and the Climate 
Change and Sustaianability Strategy. 

 

 
10. Relationship to the Corporate Strategy and Service Plan 
 

This report directly relates to the Climate Emergency Motion that the Council has 
identified as a top priority in its Corporate Strategy. 

 
  
11. Implications of decision 
 

11.1. Resource (Finance, procurement, staffing, IT)  
 
 
The proposed 2020/21 budget includes £300k provided for climate change; £100k for 
ongoing costs of delivery of the action plan and £200k for one-off project costs.  
Currently, any further budget approvals will require a supplementary estimate or 
Waverley will need to achieve external funding such as grants, S106 or CIL funding.  
  
Some projects may offer savings to Waverley, therefore improving the financial 
situation of the council; each projects financial impacts will need to be considered on 
a case-by-case basis.  
 
Staff resource to support projects will be met within current staffing levels at this 
stage. Any additional requirements will be met from the project budgets.   

 
 
 
11.2. Risk management 
 

The target of becoming carbon neutral by 2030 will not be achieved without additional 
funding, resources and technological improvements. The Council will continue to 
lobby the government, seek external funding opportunities and exploit new 
technologies as the opportunity arises. 

  
11.3. Legal 
 
 
There are no direct legal implications in this report.  The target to become carbon 
neutral by 2030 is not enshrined in law.    

 
 
11.4. Equality, diversity and inclusion 
 

There are no direct equality, diversity or inclusion implications in this report.  
 
 

11.5. Climate emergency declaration 
 

This report is directly related to the Climate Emergency declaration. The Carbon 

Page 42



 

Neutrality Action Plan is the proposed path to achieving its target. 
 
 
12. Consultation and engagement 
 

An online consultation has taken place seeking the views of the residents and the wider 
community on the direction the council should take in terms of achieving carbon 
neutrality.  
 
A Communications and Engagement strategy will be put in place over the next few 
months to plan further engagement  with residents, businesses and the wider Waverley 
community. 
 
 
13. Other options considered 
 
None at this stage 
 
 
14.  Governance journey 
 

 3rd November – Executive briefing 

 11th November – Environment O&S meeting 

 1st December  - Executive meeting 

 15th December - Full Council 
 
 
Annexes: 
 
Annexe 1 – Carbon Neutrality Action Plan 2020-2030  
Annexe 2 – Climate Emergency Consultation summary 
 

 
Background Papers 
 
There are / are no background papers, as defined by Section 100D (5) of the Local 
Government Act 1972).  

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 
Name: Fotini Vickers  
Position: Sustainability Manager 
Telephone: 01483 523448 
Email: Fotini.vickers@waverley.gov.uk 
 
 
Agreed and signed off by: 
Legal Services: Sophie Thorp - 27 October 2020 
Head of Finance: Rosie Plaistow/Peter Vickers – 27 October 2020 
Strategic Director:  
Portfolio Holder: Steve Williams – 29 October 2020 

Page 43

mailto:Fotini.vickers@waverley.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

Waverley Borough Council’s 

Strategic Response to the Climate 

Emergency 

 
Carbon Neutrality Action Plan 

2020 - 2030 

  

Page 45



Carbon Neutrality Action Plan – V10 Final 

 

2 
 

Contents 
FOREWARD FROM THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER..................................................... 3 

GLOSSARY ............................................................................................................... 4 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ........................................................................................... 5 

INTRODUCTION AND PURPOSE............................................................................. 7 

POLICY CONTEXTS ................................................................................................. 7 

GLOBAL ................................................................................................................................................ 7 
NATIONAL ............................................................................................................................................. 8 
LOCAL .................................................................................................................................................. 8 

EMISSION BASELINE AND PROJECTIONS ........................................................... 8 

ORGANISATIONAL BASELINE ................................................................................................................... 8 
BOROUGH WIDE BASELINE ................................................................................................................... 10 
TRAJECTORY ...................................................................................................................................... 11 

Borough Wide targets ................................................................................................................... 11 
Organisational targets .................................................................................................................. 13 

CARBON OFFSETTING AND SEQUESTRATION ......................................................................................... 14 

THE PATH TO BECOMING CARBON NEUTRAL .................................................. 14 

VISION ................................................................................................................................................ 14 
THE COUNCIL’S ROLE .......................................................................................................................... 15 
KEY PRIORITIES AND TARGETS ............................................................................................................. 15 

Focus on Organisational Emissions ............................................................................................. 16 
Focus on Active Travel and Air Quality ........................................................................................ 16 
Focus on Energy Generation ....................................................................................................... 17 
Focus on the Built Environment (Housing, Planning) ................................................................... 17 
Focus on Waste and Resources .................................................................................................. 18 
Focus on Land Use and Adaptation ............................................................................................. 19 
Focus on Supporting a Green Economy ...................................................................................... 19 

ACTIONS ............................................................................................................................................. 20 

EMBEDDING CHANGE ........................................................................................... 21 

FINANCE AND RESOURCES ................................................................................. 21 

PROGRAMME MANAGEMENT .............................................................................. 23 

CLIMATE EMERGENCY BOARD ............................................................................................................. 23 
CLIMATE EMERGENCY OFFICERS GROUP ............................................................................................. 23 
ANNUAL PROGRESS ............................................................................................................................. 23 

ANNEXE 1 – INDICATIVE ACTION PLAN .............................................................. 24 

SHORT TERM ACTIONS – 2020-2023 ................................................................................................... 24 
MEDIUM TERM ACTIONS 2024-2026 .................................................................................................... 32 
LONG TERM ACTIONS 2027-2030 ........................................................................................................ 34 

 

 
 

  

Page 46



Carbon Neutrality Action Plan – V10 Final 

 

3 
 

Foreword from the portfolio holder 

 

Dear Waverley resident 
 
On Wednesday 18th September 2019, Waverley Borough Council passed a motion 
which I moved on behalf of the Executive, declaring a climate emergency and 
committing the council to become a  carbon neutral council by 2030. This action plan 
is a response to that declaration of a climate emergency. 
 
Waverley Borough Council had never before declared a state of emergency of any 
kind, and this is significant. For this is not merely another policy initiative; it is an 
attempt to ensure we do everything we can as a council as part of a worldwide 
movement to reduce carbon emissions to a level which will keep global temperatures 
in check. In essence, we are doing our bit to avoid the utterly catastrophic events 
that will ensue should global temperatures rise by more than 1.5 degrees Celsius 
above pre-industrial levels. We are committed to lead by example in our response to 
the challenge of climate change and, in doing so, we shall do everything we possibly 
can to make Waverley a carbon neutral borough by 2030. Whilst the main focus of 
this plan is that of enabling Waverley Borough Council to become a carbon neutral 
council by 2030, we shall be bringing forward more detailed proposals for a zero-
carbon borough by 2030 once these have been developed and agreed by the 
shortly-to-be-established Climate Assembly. 
 
Being on an emergency footing means that everyone who works for or works with 
Waverley Borough Council should be aware of the carbon footprint for which they 
are responsible – and should be doing everything they can to reduce this carbon 
footprint to zero. Being on an emergency footing means that everyone who works for 
or with Waverley Borough Council should be doing everything in their power to 
influence others to reduce their carbon footprint and to influence other councils and 
private, public and third sector organisations to support us in our ambition. 
 
Some of the actions we propose in this plan are easy to take and cost little to 
implement. Other actions are more difficult and more costly. Some will only be 
achieved through national government and Surrey County Council action and we 
shall work in partnership as appropriate to secure our goal.  
 
Whatever the challenges we face over the coming decade, it has never been more 
important for our council to respond and play its part in the face of an impending 
climate catastrophe. We owe it to ourselves and to future generations. 
 
Best wishes 
 

 
Steve Williams 
Portfolio Holder for Environment & Sustainability  

Page 47



Carbon Neutrality Action Plan – V10 Final 

 

4 
 

Glossary 
 
BEIS – Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy 

Carbon budget – Upper limit of carbon emissions associated with remaining below 
a specific global average temperature 

Carbon Neutral – All carbon emissions are either eliminated or are offset by 
counteracting emissions through carbon absorbing projects. To become 
carbon neutral an organisation should be considering its own direct emissions 
as well as those created by suppliers.   

CIL - Community Infrastructure Levy. Charge levied by local authorities on new 
developments which can be used to deliver infrastructure to support the 
developments in their area. 

CO2e – Carbon dioxide equivalent.  Measure of global warming potential of various 
greenhouse gases. 

Decarbonisation – the action of removing carbon from an activity or a sector 

GHG - Greenhouse gases.  Gases in the atmosphere which keeps the planet 
warmer than it would otherwise be including carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous 
oxide, hydrofluorocarbons, perfluorocarbons, and Sulphur hexafluoride.  

LULUCF – Inventory sector that covers emissions and removal of greenhouse gases 
from land use, land use change and forestry activities 

NET – Negative emission technology. Technologies which can capture extract and 
store carbon dioxide 

NIL – National Infrastructure Levy 

PPA – Power purchase agreement. Agreement between the buyer and seller of 
electricity. 

SAP or Standard Assessment Procedure is an energy rating procedure developed 
by BRE and based on the BRE Domestic Energy Model (BREDEM) 

SCATTER – Setting City Area Targets and Trajectories for Emission Reduction 

SCC – Surrey County Council 

ULEV – Ultra low emission vehicle which emits less than 75g of carbon dioxide per 
km travelled. 

 

 

 

Page 48



Carbon Neutrality Action Plan – V10 Final 

 

5 
 

Executive Summary 
 

In 2019 Waverley Borough Council declared a climate emergency acknowledging 

the urgency to act and committed to becoming a carbon neutral council by 2030. The 

purpose of the Carbon Neutrality Action Plan (CNAP) is to provide a statement of the 

councils’ areas of focus to achieve a carbon neutral borough. It offers a framework 

for change and will continually evolve as projects and actions are developed further. 

 

We fully appreciate that meeting the target of carbon neutrality by 2030 will be 

challenging and it fundamentally dependent on the scale and pace of radical action 

nationally and funding streams from national government. However, it is extremely 

important that we do everything we can within our power to work towards achieving 

it.  

 

The council has been recording its non-domestic greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions 

since 2008. By 2015 it managed to maintain its absolute emissions at the same level 

as 2008. We do recognise that more action is required now to rapidly move to a 

carbon neutral council.  In 2015 the council’s carbon emissions were 5,297 tonnes (t) 

CO2e and this is the year which we will measure the progress of this action plan 

against. 

 

The council’s carbon responsibilities are not limited to non-domestic emissions. It 

owns 4861 social housing units with the responsibility to manage and maintain. By 

using the Standard Assessment Procedure (SAP) methodology, the emissions 

associated with the council housing stock in April 2015 were 11,983 1 t CO2e and 

represent the total carbon emissions based on standard assumptions for occupancy 

and behavior.  

 

Waverley Borough’s overall carbon footprint was 577 ktCO2e in 2015. This 

comprises domestic, transport emissions, as well as emissions from the industrial 

and commercial sector. An element of offset emissions from land use, land use 

                                            
1
 Data from Reduced data SAP methodology 

Page 49

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/standard-assessment-procedure


Carbon Neutrality Action Plan – V10 Final 

 

6 
 

change and forestry (LULUCF) are represented as a negative figure. When looking 

more closely at borough wide emissions, the council itself only accounts for 1% of 

the total. 

 

Waverley has a crucial role in tackling climate change. We have a role as community 

leader, to set an example by adopting policies and plans to effect change, while 

encouraging and influencing others. The council recognises the magnitude of 

achieving the 2030 net zero target and acknowledges that it has limited powers, 

responsibilities, resources and finances. The council’s role is to deliver where it can, 

to enable and support the community and partners to take action, to lobby and push 

change in policy, legislation and funding to enable carbon neutrality. 

 

Seven key priority areas have been identified each containing a number of high-level 

targets that will focus efforts to achieve the ambitious carbon neutral target. In order 

to prioritise resources the plan has been divided in Short, Medium and Long term 

actions. A scoring system for cost and carbon impact has also been introduced and 

uses broad assumptions to provide an indication of the scale of investment required 

and carbon saving achieved for each action. Quantifying the carbon impact of 

potential actions can be complex and will require ongoing commitment and effort. At 

this stage, it has not been possible to fully quantify the carbon impact of delivering 

each action contained within the plan, but this information will become clearer as 

each action is further developed. Embedding a carbon neutral culture within 

processes and policies is significant to sustain long term change. The council will 

review its practices and engage with staff, suppliers and contractors as well as 

residents and local businesses in order to actively influence change.  

 

Becoming a carbon neutral council is a corporate priority as is ensuring that 

Waverley is financially sound with infrastructure and services fit for the future. This 

plan will require significant financial investment, which will come from a combination 

of sources, including council funds and grant funding. In many cases, there will be an 

associated return of investment from energy savings and those actions should be 

looked at as a priority.  

 

Page 50



Carbon Neutrality Action Plan – V10 Final 

 

7 
 

This action plan will be a live document, continually updated to reflect further 

refinement, funding availability, policy and technological changes. It should be seen 

in the context of our sustainability policies which will set out the significant actions 

that Waverley Borough Council will need to take during the coming decade to 

mitigate the serious impact of the climate change that is already happening.    

Introduction and purpose 

On 18th September 2019 Waverley Borough Council noted the urgency to respond 

to climate change and declared a ‘climate emergency’ that requires urgent action. 

The council:  

 aims to become carbon neutral by 2030, taking into account both production 

and consumption emissions, and take a leadership role to achieve this 

working with other councils, including town and parish councils within the 

borough 

 recognises that the achievement of the target will require central government 

to provide the powers, funding and other resources to achieve the target and 

therefore calls on the government to provide such powers, funding and other 

resources as appropriate to facilitate achieving the 2030 target 

The purpose of the Carbon Neutrality Action Plan (CNAP) is to provide a statement 

of the councils’ areas of focus to achieve a carbon neutral council by 2030. It offers a 

framework for change. We do not have all the answers yet, but we are committed to 

investing time and resources, as much as possible, to responding to the climate 

emergency by taking actions to deliver, enable and support a carbon neutral vision 

for Waverley.  

 

Policy Contexts  

Global  

The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) and 

scientific community have identified that man-made climate change will have a 

severe human, environmental and economic impact. Global action is required to 

reduce greenhouse gas concentrations in the atmosphere to "a level that would 

Page 51



Carbon Neutrality Action Plan – V10 Final 

 

8 
 

prevent dangerous anthropogenic interference with the climate system" (Article 2). In 

2015 196 states signed the Paris Agreement which committed to dealing with 

greenhouse gas mitigation, adaptation, and finance. Under the Paris Agreement, 

each country must determine, plan, and regularly report on the contribution that it 

undertakes to mitigate global warming.  

National 

In 2008 the UK passed the Climate Change Act, which committed the UK to lower 

net greenhouse gases by at least 80% of the 1990 baseline. In 2019 the Climate 

Change Act was amended and the target to be carbon neutral by 2050 was set. This 

action plan is aligned with national policy and hopes to play its part in the delivery of 

the national agenda. 

Local  

Waverley is a large rural borough in southwest Surrey with a population of 

approximately 123,000 spread over four main population centres and surrounding 

villages. In 2019 Waverley Borough Council declared a climate emergency and 

committed to becoming a carbon neutral council by 2030 acknowledging the urgency 

to act. Surrey County Council (SCC) along with many other districts and boroughs 

across the county, also declared their commitment to act on climate change aiming 

to be carbon neutral by 2050.  

 

Emission baseline and projections 
 

Organisational baseline 

The council has been recording its non-domestic greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions 

since 2008. The emissions measured are direct emissions from fuel combustion 

(Scope 1), indirect emissions from electricity purchased (Scope 2) and indirect 

emissions from energy consumption from all our outsourced buildings and service 

delivery (Scope 3). The adoption of the Carbon Management Plan in 2010 and the 

Energy Efficiency Plan in 2015 took the council through a carbon reduction journey. 

Since 2008 we have seen a natural growth in population and social housing 

provision, we have increased the service provision in several areas and by 2015 we 

Page 52



Carbon Neutrality Action Plan – V10 Final 

 

9 
 

have managed to maintain our absolute carbon emissions at the same level as in 

2008. We do recognise that more action is required now to rapidly move to a carbon 

neutral council.  In 2015 the council’s carbon emissions were 5,297 tonnes (t) CO2e 

and this is the year which we will measure the progress of this action plan against. 

As shown in Figure 1, the majority of the council’s emissions come from outsourced 

services and buildings.   

 

The council’s carbon responsibilities are not limited to non-domestic emissions. It 

also owns 4861 social housing units and has responsibility to manage and maintain 

them. Although the council has control over the quality of the buildings, it has little 

control over how the tenants choose to live with regards to sustainability 

considerations. By using a Standard Assessment Procedure (SAP) methodology we 

are able to assess the energy performance of our social housing and set a baseline 

which we will use to measure improvements against. The emissions associated with 

the council’s owned social housing in April 2015 were 11,983 2 t CO2e. This figure 

represents the total carbon emissions based on standard assumptions for occupancy 

                                            
2
 Data from Reduced data SAP methodology  

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Organisational GHG Emissions by Scope 

Council owned properties - Gas & Electricity (Scope 1&2) Council owned vehicles (Scope 1)

Council's outsourced properties  (Scope 3) Staff business travel (Scope 3)

Contractor Travel (Scope 3) Other emissions (Scope 1 & 2)

Figure 1. Organisational emissions 

Page 53

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/standard-assessment-procedure


Carbon Neutrality Action Plan – V10 Final 

 

10 
 

-200

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

C
O

2
 e

m
is

si
o

n
s/

kt
 

Waverley Borough Wide Carbon emissions  
by end-user sector, 2005-2015 

Industry and Commercial Domestic Transport LULUCF

Figure 2. Carbon emission breakdown by sector.  

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

2000 2005 2010 2015 2020

P
e
r 

C
a
p
it
a
 E

m
is

s
io

n
s
 (

t 

Year 

Per Capita Emissions (t) 

Figure 3. Per capita emisssions 

and behavior. It therefore does not represent the actual carbon output from social 

housing.  It is within Waverleys gift to retrofit council homes to make them as energy 

efficiency as possible.  An engagement programme will be developed to encourage 

more environmentally conscious  behaviours in order to reduce energy consumption, 

thereby cutting energy bills. 

Borough wide baseline 

Waverley Borough’s overall carbon footprint was 577 ktCO2e in 2015. This 

comprises transport emissions (40%), emissions from the industrial and commercial 

sector (20%), and domestic sector emissions (40%). Offset emissions in the borough 

from land use, land use change and forestry (LULUCF) were 61 ktCO2e. Despite the 

33% tree coverage across Waverley land use offsets only a minority of the borough 

emissions. The 

2015 footprint 

figure will be 

the one used 

as a baseline 

which future 

emissions are 

measured 

against.  

 

 

Waverley Borough is in a period of growth with an increase in housing provision and 

naturally its population will also see an annual grow. As set out in the adopted Local 

Plan Part 1, the council will make provision for at least 11,210 net additional homes 

in the period from 2013 to 2032 (equivalent to at least 590 dwellings a year). 

Inevitably, the absolute figure for carbon emissions in the area is also likely to 

increase. An alternative way 

to measure the borough’s 

carbon footprint is on an 

emission's per capita basis. 

This will demonstrate the 

Page 54



Carbon Neutrality Action Plan – V10 Final 

 

11 
 

emissions in the context of a growing population. In Waverley the per capita 

emissions have been steadily reducing since 2005 as shown in Figure 3 and in 2015 

they were 4.7tCO2e.  

 

 

When looking closer at the borough wide emissions, the council itself only accounts 

for 1% of the total borough wide emissions. Although a relatively small contribution 

towards the area wide footprint it is still hugely important in terms of demonstrating 

leadership in the local community.  

 

Trajectory 

The Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) funded a 

project to develop Setting City Area Targets and Trajectories for Emissions 

Reduction (SCATTER) to support local authorities with modeling area emission 

targets based on scenarios that are consistent with the United Nations Paris Climate 

Agreement. Using this methodology, it has been possible to set out the potential 

paths to achieving net zero carbon by 2050. The tool is based on several broad 

assumptions and considers technology and national policy as they stand at the 

moment. This tool is useful in providing indicative pathways but will need reviewing 

every few years when key assumptions within it are updated in line with 

technological developments and policy changes.  

 

The full report on “Setting Climate Commitments for Waverley” can be available on 

request and the key conclusions are outlined in this section.  

Borough Wide targets  

For Waverley to make a strictly proportionate contribution to the delivery of the Paris 

Agreement (2050 target) it should stay within a maximum cumulative “carbon 

budget” of 3.6 million tonnes (MtCO2) for the period of 2020-2100. In order to remain 

within this “allowance” a carbon reduction programme of mitigation measures should 

be put in place to achieve a minimum 13.4% year on year carbon reduction. If the 

proposed trajectory is followed it will be possible to achieve carbon neutrality by 

Page 55



Carbon Neutrality Action Plan – V10 Final 

 

12 
 

2041, with 5% of the budget remaining. This action will require, national and local 

action. It cannot be achieved by the local authority alone. 

 

Bringing forward the target date to 

2030 will mean an average reduction in 

carbon emissions of 27% per year from 

2016. Table 1 indicates the 

recommended reduction target 

milestones to a) meet the Paris 

Agreement and b) meet Waverley’s 

ambitious 2030 carbon neutrality target 

both compared to the 2015 baseline.  

 

A key recommendation of the 

SCATTER report is that Waverley 

should encourage and deploy 

sustainable energy generation within 

the area and where possible influence 

national policy on this matter. Managing land use and land use change and forestry 

(LULUCF) to ensure CO2 sequestration where possible is also a key 

recommendation. These conclusions are helpful in setting Waverley’s priorities over 

the next 10 years. 

 

To be carbon neutral by 2030, there will need to be a net reduction of 38 kt of carbon 

year on year across the borough from 2015 levels. Figure 4 compares the 

recommended pathways as indicated using the SCATTER tool to meet the targets of 

the Paris Agreement as well as the indicative pathway to meet Waverley’s ambition. 

Year 
CO2 reduction  

for 2050 target 

Indicative  CO2 

reduction for 

2030 target 

2020 23.6% 33% 

2021 35.1% 40% 

2022 43.8% 47% 

2023 51.3% 53% 

2024 57.8% 60% 

2025 62.8% 67% 

2030 81.9% 100% 

2035 91.2%  

2040 95.7%  

2045 97.9%  

2050 99%  

Table 1. Recommended area wide CO2 reductions  

Page 56



Carbon Neutrality Action Plan – V10 Final 

 

13 
 

 

Organisational targets 

Waverley’s ambition is to become a carbon neutral council by 2030. We recognise 

that this will be extremely challenging in many ways. Technological development and 

the scale of the financial commitment will limit what can be achieved but we are 

determined to do everything within our powers to meet this target. 

 

In order to create an indicative reduction pathway for the councils own emissions, we 

have used the same methodology and principles presented above for the borough 

wide emissions. As recommended by the SCATTER tool, a 13.4% reduction year on 

year has been applied and Figure 5 illustrates the reductions required by the council 

to meet the 2050 carbon neutrality target as per the Paris Agreement. Bringing 

forward the target year to 2030 would result in a very ambitious trajectory to reflect 

the council’s climate emergency commitment.  

 

 

0

100,000

200,000

300,000

400,000

500,000

600,000

700,000
tC
O
₂e
) 

Year 

Pathway to Net Zero 

SCATTER Minimum SCATTER Maximum SCATTER Recommended pathway Waverley's target

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

2
0

1
7

2
0

1
8

2
0

1
9

2
0

2
0

2
0

2
1

2
0

2
2

2
0

2
3

2
0

2
4

2
0

2
5

2
0

2
6

2
0

2
7

2
0

2
8

2
0

2
9

2
0

3
0

2
0

3
1

2
0

3
2

Organisational Pathway to Net Zero 

Waverley's Pathway to Net Zero SCATTER Recommended Pathway

Figure 4. Borough wide pathways to net zero carbon 

Page 57



Carbon Neutrality Action Plan – V10 Final 

 

14 
 

 

Carbon offsetting and sequestration 

Offsetting is where carbon is removed from the atmosphere to help negate the 

emissions that are pumped into the air by human activities. If Waverley follows the 

SCATTER recommended pathway to 2050 neutrality there will be a shortfall by 

2030. This is due to an expectation that domestic passenger transport will continue 

being in use to some extent, existing housing even if deeply retrofitted, will still have 

an element of heat loss and some new technologies essential to future 

decarbonisation will not be readily available until post 2030.  We anticipate that new 

actions to offset carbon locally such as Negative Emissions Technologies (NETs)3  

will close this gap. The council will investigate all possible options to sequester 

carbon locally including, tree preservation and afforestation, rewilding and improving 

land management to increase carbon in soil.  

 

The path to becoming Carbon Neutral 

We are committed to becoming a carbon neutral council and doing everything in our 

power to ensure that Waverley is a carbon neutral borough by 2030. We fully 

appreciate that meeting the target of carbon neutrality by 2030 will be challenging 

and it relies heavily on action beyond the council’s control, but it is extremely 

important that we do everything we can within our power to work towards achieving 

it. It is important to note that the route to carbon neutrality for any local council is, in 

large measure, dependent on the scale and pace of radical action nationally and 

funding streams from national government. 

Vision 

Waverley’s newly adopted corporate strategy outlines the council’s vision. With 

regard to the climate emergency commitment the council is committed to: 

                                            
3
 Negative Emission Technologies: 

https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/28_EASAC%20Report%20on%20Negative%20Emission
%20Technologies.pdf 
 

Figure 5.  Waverley Council’s indicative pathways 

Promote and sustain a sense of responsibility by all for our 
environment, promoting biodiversity, championing the green 
economy and protecting our planet. 

Page 58

https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/28_EASAC%20Report%20on%20Negative%20Emission%20Technologies.pdf
https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/28_EASAC%20Report%20on%20Negative%20Emission%20Technologies.pdf


Carbon Neutrality Action Plan – V10 Final 

 

15 
 

 

The Council’s role 

Waverley has a crucial role in tackling climate change. We have a role as community 

leader, setting an example by adopting our own policies and plans to effect change, 

as well as encouraging and influencing others. The council recognises the 

magnitude of achieving the 2030 net zero target and acknowledges that it has limited 

powers, responsibilities, resources and finances. The council is committed to 

reducing its own carbon footprint to zero, to champion businesses who also are 

actively working to reduce their carbon footprint, and to create both the infrastructure 

and provide the information resources to help the residents to reduce their carbon 

footprint be it personal, domestic or transport.  

 

Many of the changes that will be required to achieve carbon neutrality will be the 

responsibility of others including public, private and third sectors and individuals. The 

council will work closely with partners in implementing this action plan by: 

 

 Delivering actions where the council can directly deliver a defined 

outcome  

 Enabling and Leading actions where the council’s role is to facilitate 

delivery of defined outcomes, for instance changes to policy and provide a 

leadership role within the community  

 Supporting actions where the council can encourage or contribute to the 

delivery of a defined outcome  

 Lobbying actions where the council’s primary role is to promote and push 

for change (policy, legislation or funding)  

 

These categories will feature throughout each individual action within the action plan. 

 

Key priorities and targets 

In order to identify the key priority areas for this action plan we have considered the 

responses to a public consultation, we have reviewed Surrey’s Climate Change 

Strategy and also reflected on the recommendations from the SCATTER report. 

Page 59



Carbon Neutrality Action Plan – V10 Final 

 

16 
 

Ultimately, Waverley Councillors have set the strategic direction and officers have 

had an input on service specific capabilities.  The key areas of focus as well as high 

level targets are outlined in this section.   

 

Focus on Organisational Emissions  

As a community leader the council will set an example and set high standards in becoming 

carbon neutral. Not only practically on its own estate but also across its policies, service 

delivery and investment decisions. 

High level 

targets 

 

We will: 

 Identify pathways to reducing emission from our own buildings by 100% 

by 2030 

 Develop a plan to reduce emissions from travel by converting our fleet to 

100% zero emissions including contractor vehicles through the 

procurement process 

 Promote reduction and re-use as well as recycling, consistent with our 

aim to become a zero waste organisation by 2030 

 Ensure sustainable procurement practices throughout the council as 

part of the Council’s Procurement Strategy  

 Reduce car journeys for commute by Waverley staff by 60% by 2025 

and promote zero carbon transport including active transport 

 

 

Focus on Active Travel and Air Quality  

Active travel offers the opportunity to minimise emissions but also reduces congestion and 

improves local air quality however Waverley is not responsible for highways or transport 

therefore will be somewhat restricted as to how much we can deliver ourselves.   

High level 

targets 

 

We will: 

 Work with Surrey County Council to reduce volume of traffic on our 

roads and encourage a radical transformation of our transport 

infrastructure in favour of active transport. 

 Produce and deliver a Low Emission Clean Air Strategy  

 Work with partners to deliver a greenway network, connecting the main 

centres across the Borough by 2030 

 

 

Page 60



Carbon Neutrality Action Plan – V10 Final 

 

17 
 

Focus on Energy Generation  

Generating energy at source is a crucial element of achieving carbon neutrality. There will 

be more reliance on electricity in the future therefore renewable generation through 

domestic installations and community energy schemes will offer the potential to increase 

local energy generation. Identifying opportunities for large-scale schemes in the borough 

will be key.   

High level 

targets 

 

We will: 

 Establish potential sites and identify funding models for renewable 

energy generation projects in the Borough by 2021 building on the 

Surrey County Council Land Use Strategy 

 Identify opportunities for and facilitate community power generation in 

the borough  

 

 

Focus on the Built Environment (Housing, Planning)  

The council owns 4861 properties and has a duty to maintain them to statutory  standards. 

Although the council’s direct responsibility lies with the performance of the building fabric it 

has no control over the behaviour of its tenants. Waverley is also an active developer, 

building new council homes in order to meet the housing needs of the local people. This 

offers an opportunity to lead by example and show the local development industry what is 

possible and show the public what they can demand from private developers.  

 

Through the planning process the council is able to influence and control future 

development standards while balancing its other priorities. 

High level 

targets 

 

We will: 

 Aim to adopt Local Plan Part 2 by December 2021 enabling us to apply 

a stronger suite of development management policies to deliver more 

sustainable development; produce a Supplementary Planning Document 

that will support carbon neutral developments by December 2021; and 

review the Local Plan in order to strengthen our planning policy 

requirements for sustainability by 2023. 

 Ensure that explicit advice is provided to developers, consistent with our 

carbon neutral goal.  

 Produce an Asset Management Strategy which will present a 

decarbonisation path for our existing council stock by November 2021 

Page 61



Carbon Neutrality Action Plan – V10 Final 

 

18 
 

 Ensure that all new council homes be carbon neutral by 2030 

 Adopt a new Housing Strategy by 31 March 2021 that will set objectives 

for carbon neutral affordable housing delivery during the term of the 

Strategy (2021-2026). 

 Secure the budgets to enable all new-build council homes and estate 

regeneration projects to be built or retrofitted to a carbon neutral 

standard. 

 Work with partners to facilitate the retrofitting of all buildings throughout 

the borough to carbon neutral standards. 

 

 

Focus on Waste and Resources  

Waverley is one of 11 districts & boroughs who are a part of Surrey Environmental 

Partnership (SEP) with Surrey CC.  Waverley is a waste collection authority and Surrey 

are responsible for the waste disposal. Targets for recycling and waste to landfill have 

been set by SEP and the Surrey Waste Local Plan (2019-2033) sets out how and where 

different types of waste will be managed in the future.  

High level 

targets 

 

We will: 

 Work with SEP and other partners to enable Waverley to become a zero 

waste borough, promoting reduction and re-use as well as recycling  

 Reuse, compost or recycle at least 70% of collected waste by 2030 in 

line with SCC Waste Strategy 

 Reduce residual household waste consistent with a 90% recycling rate, 

based on current waste targets. 

 Work with Surrey County Council and the Waverley community to 

implement a domestic waste strategy centered on circular economy 

principles and innovative approaches to waste reutilisation and 

recycling, aiming to achieve a 15% year-on-year reduction in residual 

waste over the period of this plan 

 Work with partners to reduce the volume of commercial and industrial 

waste, a large proportion of Waverley’s waste stream, in line with the 

proposed reduction in household waste. 

 

Page 62



Carbon Neutrality Action Plan – V10 Final 

 

19 
 

Focus on Land Use and Adaptation  

Offsetting by sequestering carbon will be essential; Waverley already has a 33% tree 

coverage. All forms of carbon sequestering will need consideration including selecting 

trees or hedgerows to plant that will maximise sequestering potential, improving land and 

woodland management practices and rewilding. 

 

Changes in climate are already happening and Waverley will look to mitigate the impact it 

has already caused. 

High level 

targets 

 

We will: 

 Produce a Tree and Hedgerow Planting Policy and Action Plan by 2021 

to establish the sequestrating potential in the borough.  

 Produce a Green Infrastructure Policy by 2021 taking onto account the 

net zero commitment 

 Develop a Climate Change Adaptation Strategy that will outline how the 

council will put measures in place to minimise the impact of our 

changing climate 

 

 

Focus on Supporting a Green Economy  

Waverley is keen to promote the transition to economies that are low carbon and resource 

efficient. 

High level 

targets 

 

We will: 

 Develop a strategy to provide incentives and support for local 

businesses to operate on a sustainable model and commit to becoming 

carbon neutral by 2030 

 Incorporate a preference for using local suppliers when procuring goods 

and services taking into consideration legal constraint within 

procurement rules 

 Encourage the development of small, local sustainable businesses in 

the borough as well as a culture for shopping locally  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 63



Carbon Neutrality Action Plan – V10 Final 

 

20 
 

Actions 

Quantifying impacts of potential action and developing a pathway for Waverley to 

become a carbon neutral can be complex and will require ongoing commitment and 

effort. This action plan will be a live document, updated annually to reflect policy and 

technological changes as well as funding availability.  At this stage, the carbon 

impact of delivering the actions contained within it has not been fully quantified. 

Whilst some of the actions are worked up enough to be able to demonstrate exact 

carbon savings from delivery, many are not yet at that point and will require more 

work. In order to prioritise resources and maintain some focus we have chosen to 

separate our actions in short, medium and long term. While more effort will be put in 

the short-term actions, we will continue planning for the long-term ones too.  

 

The action plan detailed in Annexe 1 contains 70 indicative short, medium and long-

term actions which will contribute towards our carbon neutrality target. Each action is 

linked to the key priorities and targets outlined in the previous section. The role of the 

council in achieving each action is made clear and it defines the limitations of the 

successful delivery. There is also indication, in outline, whether those actions link to 

any other priorities of the corporate strategy. 

 

A broad cost assumption has also been included in order to establish the magnitude 

of investment for each one. Low (£): £0- £50k, medium (££) is £50-£250, High (£££) 

is £250- £1m and Very High (££££) is £1m+. As and when more specific costs are 

identified the plan will be updated with actual figures.  

 

It is not possible to provide a carbon impact of all actions at this stage. Further, 

detailed work will be required in order to produce a more definite assessment of the 

carbon reduction of each action with in the plan. In an attempt to provide a high-level 

estimation, a carbon impact scale has been incorporated into the plan. This method 

will help identifying those actions that are likely to have the highest carbon reduction 

contribution and also those actions that will be more complex to quantify for various 

reasons. Low impact:  reductions in council’s own emissions of less than 1%, 

Medium: reductions in council’s own emissions between 2%-5%, High: reductions in 

council’s own emissions between 6%- 10%. Enabling, mitigation and lobbying 

Page 64



Carbon Neutrality Action Plan – V10 Final 

 

21 
 

scoring has also been included for the actions relating to borough wide emissions. 

The carbon impact will be updated with specific figures as and when they become 

available.  

 

Embedding Change 

The council is committed to leading by example. This means making sure that the 

climate emergency is embedded in everything we do. Having recognised the climate 

emergency as our number one corporate priority. This section sets out the actions 

we will take to embed the carbon neutral culture throughout the organisation.  

 

 

 

Finance and Resources 

Becoming a carbon neutral council is a corporate priority as is ensuring that 

Waverley is financially sound with infrastructure and services fit for the future. This 

We will: 

 include considerations for carbon implications for all projects considered for capital 

investment by the Council. (immediately) 

 change the culture of the organisation and the wider community by providing climate 

literacy training to all Staff and Councillors (by 2021) 

 engage with all suppliers and contractors and partner organisations through service 

level agreements to encourage a net zero carbon approach in their service delivery 

(ongoing) 

 amend the council’s contract procurement rules to ensure that all bidders are required to 

assess and document all measures they are taking to reduce the carbon footprint of their 

operations. The goal of carbon neutrality will form part of the evaluation criteria (by 2021) 

 adopt an Climate Neutrality Communications Strategy to engage with Waverley staff, 

council tenants and the wider Waverley residents (by 2021) 

 set up a Citizen’s Assembly to encourage public participation in shaping the climate 

emergency agenda, securing agreement to develop a boroughwide plan for a net zero 

carbon borough by 2030, making clear the actions for Waverley Borough Council in its 

leadership role within the local community. (by 2021) 

 

Page 65



Carbon Neutrality Action Plan – V10 Final 

 

22 
 

plan will require significant financial investment. However, in many cases there will 

also be an associated return of investment from energy savings.  

 

In order to achieve the objectives of this action plan the council will: 

 Consider identified projects every year to coincide with capital budget setting. 

Whilst there are financial constraints, the council has developed a 

prioritisation methodology which covers a number of criteria including any 

ongoing revenue costs or savings, deliverability, the extent to which the 

proposed scheme meets the council’s priorities and the environmental 

credentials of the project. Invest to save capital projects are encouraged and 

supported particularly when achieving a revenue payback of 5 years or less.  

 Support divesting the pension fund from fossil fuel companies in order to 

support the wider movement towards carbon neutral as well as avoiding the 

risk of medium-term losses through stranded assets. 

 Investigate the use of Green Bonds to provide the capital impetus to 

decarbonisation of the council’s social housing and municipal buildings. 

 use of Power Purchase Agreements (PPAs) to fix the council’s long-term 

energy costs whilst supporting community energy that retains wealth in the 

borough and guarantees renewable, zero-carbon power generation 

 

The council has already established a new role, the Sustainability Projects Officer as 

a commitment to the work that is required to support the delivery of the Carbon 

Neutrality Action Plan.  

 

Waverley will continually look for external sources of funding as they become 

available to supplement the costs of projects. Currently there are many government 

funding streams available that we are actively looking to take advantage of. 

 

We will also find ways to utilise the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and the 

development of Allowable Solutions as a way of supporting the delivery of the carbon 

neutral vision. However, it must be noted that there may be potential challenges as a 

result of the introduction of a National Infrastructure Levy (NIL) in place of CIL over 

which Waverley Borough Council may have no control.  

Page 66



Carbon Neutrality Action Plan – V10 Final 

 

23 
 

Programme management 

To succeed in achieving carbon neutrality it is important to demonstrate leadership at 

the highest level. Good programme governance is key to making carbon neutrality 

effective in Waverley. The following structure will ensure a high level of commitment 

and management of this programme. 

Executive Committee 

The Executive will ultimately be responsible for the delivery of the action plan, 

making key decisions to enable progress. 

Climate Emergency Board 

A board will be established, ideally to assist with removing barriers and monitoring 

the progress on the action plan. Progress updates should be provided by each 

service throughout the year.  

Climate Emergency Officers Group 

An officers group is already in existence and will remain the vehicle to deliver this 

ambitious agenda. The members of this group are the individual project owners that 

are responsible for delivery of the projects within the action plan.  

Annual progress 

This action plan is intended to be a live document and will be updated frequently as 

required. An update of the action plan will be presented to Executive and 

Environment O&S Committee annually with the next update scheduled for October 

2021 in order to align with budget setting processes for the following year.  

 
 
 
 

Page 67



Annexe 1 – Indicative Action Plan 
Key: 

Council’s Role Indicative costs Carbon impact Co benefits-link to other corporate priorities 

D Deliver £ Low - £0-£50k L 
Low - <1% reduction in council’s 
own emissions 

 
Local, open, participative government 

E 
Enable and 
facilitate 

££ 
Medium - £50k- 
£250 

M 
Medium – 2-5% reduction in 
council’s own emissions 

 Supporting a strong, resilient local 
economy 

S 
Support and 
encourage 

£££ High - £250-£1M H 
High – 5-10% reduction in 
council’s own emissions 

 
Good quality housing 

L Lobby ££££ Very High - £1M + 
Enabling 
Lobbying 
Mitigating 

Potential borough wide reduction 
- Yet to be quantified 

 Effective strategic planning and 
development management 

 
Improving the health and wellbeing 

 

Short Term Actions – 2020-2023 

 
Key focus area No Actions 

T
a
rg

e
t 

d
a
te

 

C
o

u
n

c
il

’s
  

ro
le

 

In
d

ic
. 

C
o

s
t 

 

C
a

rb
o

n
 

im
p

a
c
t 

C
o

-

b
e
n

e
fi

ts
 

Organisational 
Emissions 

O1 Work with SCC to map out opportunities for solar generation on Waverley 

assets and tree/hedgerow planting 

2020 D £ L  

O2 Identify and resolve any barriers to use of existing Mod.Gov by all 

councillors and officers to access and use all committee papers 

electronically. 

2021-

22 

D £ L  

O3 Full Council and  Standards Committee to consider proposals for transition 

to 100% electronic provision of agenda papers.  Any accessibility issues to 

be identified and resolved by Equality Impact Assessment.   

2021 D £ L  

G 

E 

H 

P 

W 

G 

G 

E 

P
age 68



Carbon Neutrality Action Plan – V10 Final 

 

25 
 

O4 Rethink Pilot - work with SCC to nudge behaviour to consider alternative 

ways for staff to travel to get to work.  

2021 E £ L  

O5 Investigate the option of ULEV pool cars for business use and promote 

behavioural changes.  

2020 D ££ L  

O6 Replacing Borough Hall lighting: 12 fluorescent tubes with LEDs, including 

connections and controls. 

2020 D £ L  

O7 Optimise the parking software system to minimize necessity to print 

documents. 

2020 D ££ L  

O8 Develop an Energy Performance Contract when procuring the new Leisure 

Centre management contract 

2021-

23 

D £ M  

O9 Conclude the lighting replacement programme in Car parks with one final 

car park  

2020 D £ L  

O10 Cranleigh Leisure Centre - Carry out an energy audit to establish what 

work would be required to build the new leisure center in Cranleigh as 

carbon neutral as possible.  To include a step-by-step list of emissions 

versus costs. 

2020 D £ L  

O11 Improvements in Energy Efficiency at Farnham  Leisure Centre  – 

 Install a 90 kW Combined Heat and Power Plant. Project details 

provided by a technical report 

 Installation of pool covers to reduce evaporation, heat loss from the 

pool will reduce the need for ventilation from the pool hall. 

 Replace 12 showers in the members changing rooms with ones 

that have reduced flow rate. 

 Fit insulation jackets on steel sand filters. 

2021 D/E Appro

x. 

£300k 

L  

W 

W 

P
age 69



Carbon Neutrality Action Plan – V10 Final 

 

26 
 

 Replace the existing pool hall and gym windows with new triple 

glazing with a double soft heat reflective coating.  

 Review operation of AHU and explore more efficient options. 

O12 Haslemere  Leisure Centre  - Replace the existing Pool hall lighting with 

LED equivalents 

2021 D/E £ L  

O13 Edge Leisure Centre - Replace the existing sports hall lighting with LED 

equivalents. The energy savings are likely to be on the region of 50%.  

2021 D/E £15k L  

O14 Work with Housing contractors to modifying response times or batching of 

work in areas on specific days to reduce travel costs. Especially important 

for trades that only have one or two operatives. 

2021-

24 

D/E £ L  

O15 Godalming Leisure Centre - Install a 90kw Combined Heat and Power 

Plant. Further work to be done on specification and costing. 

2023 D/E £250k 

appro

x 

M - 

150t 

 

O16 Woolmer Hill Pavilion upgrade – improve energy performance of the 

building with a view to make it carbon neutral.  

2021 D £110k  L – 

15t 

 

O17 Develop a plan to work with all existing contractors to reduce their carbon 

footprint  from fuel consumption and make explicit their goals in terms of 

carbon reduction. 

2021 S £ L  

O18 Modify procurement policies and present a revised procurement policy to 

Executive consistent with the promotion of sustainable and ethical trading 

for approval and implementation by January 2022. 

 

 

 

2022 D £ L  

P
age 70



Carbon Neutrality Action Plan – V10 Final 

 

27 
 

 

 

Active Travel 
and Air Quality 

T1 In partnership with SCC pilot the installation of on street EV chargers to 

encourage residents and taxi drivers to switch to electric vehicles. 

Promotion of chargers once in place 

2020 S £££ Enabli

ng 

 

T2 Review taxi licensing policy to encourage the use of ultra-low emission 

vehicles and introduce a maximum age limit for cars. Proposed targets 

are: 

 From 1 January 2023 a new application to licence a taxi must be a 

ULEV. 

 From 1 January 2027 new licences must only include zero 

emission vehicles  

Consultation January – March 2020 

2020-

21 

D £ Enabli

ng 

 

T3 Upgrade of the Eastern boundary footpath to be carried out. Path to be 

widened with sensitive lighting to improve access for all users and promote 

alternative transport options between North Farnham and the main central 

area. The footpath will connect to the current Southern boundary footpath.  

2020-

23 

E Initial 

budge

t 

£500k

+ 

£170k 

Enabli

ng 
 

T4 Develop and implement plans for a network of cycle routes across 

Waverley, in partnership with Surrey County Council, ensuring that by 

2030 all towns and main population centers are connected by dedicate 

cycle routes. 

 Guildford- Godalming Greenway 

2020-

23 

E £420k 

– 

initial 

budget 

Total 

cost 

Enabli

ng 

 

W 

W P 

P
age 71



Carbon Neutrality Action Plan – V10 Final 

 

28 
 

 Farnham Cycle way 

 Downs Link 

££££ 

T5 Continue the roll out of EV chargers in Waverley owned car parks to 

encourage the switch to electric vehicles. 

2021 D £-££ Enabli

ng 

 

T6 Introduce differential parking charges to incentivise electric car users. 2021 D £ Enabli

ng 

 

Energy 
Generation 

E1 Work with partners to install Solar Panels over Waverley owned car parks 

which can supply the lighting and EV chargers. 

2022 D ££££ M  

E2 Review renewable energy options in senior living units to increase 

renewable energy generation to 100% by 2030. 

2021 D ££ L  

E3 Undertake a feasibility study of an extensive (up to 2000 homes) PV 

(photovoltaic) panels and solar thermal installation programme.  

2022 D £ 

HRA 

Enabli

ng 

 

E4 Seek to purchase batteries to store electricity/ energy supplied overnight 

when it is cheaper.  To supply offices or properties during the day or sell 

back to the National Grid. Explore opportunity to work with Pivot Power. 

2022 D ££££ Enabli

ng 

 

E5 Investigate and implement opportunities for community energy projects in 

conjunction with other stakeholders, including not-for-profit organisations 

2023 E/S £££ Enabli

ng 

 

Built 
Environment 

B1 Develop plans for alternatives to individual gas boilers in new and existing 

Council homes, based on a pilot scheme.  

2022 D £ 

HRA 

L  

B2 Evaluate the stock condition data held to ensure it is robust enough to 

inform plans for energy efficiency. Take remedial action on any short falls 

identified.  

2022 D £ 

HRA 

M  

B3 Undertaken a stock condition / energy efficiency survey of all the senior 

living schemes to inform an asset management plan for the schemes 

2022 D £ L  

H 

H 

E 

H W 

H W 

H 

P
age 72



Carbon Neutrality Action Plan – V10 Final 

 

29 
 

B4 Desktop modelling exercise to ascertain current private sector stock 

conditions, including use of data from Experian, English Housing Surveys 

and Energy Performance Certificates. This will enable us to identify areas 

of interest for planned programmes of works to meet the carbon neutral 

commitment. 

2021 D £40k Enabli

ng 

 

B5 Review of Home Improvement policy for Private Sector Housing to 

increase the availability of grant aid for domestic energy efficiency 

schemes. Achieved by changes to list of eligible works and/or applicants' 

eligibility criteria. 

2020 D £ Enabli

ng 

 

B6 Work with Affordable Housing partners to meet climate change agenda in 

terms of incorporating good policy and practice on new affordable housing 

developments in Waverley. 

2020 E £ Enabli

ng 

 

B7 Work with landscape consultants to develop Climate Positive Design for 

new council homes, developing carbon off-set opportunities in the 

materials used in hard landscaping and plants in soft landscaping.   

2020-

ongoi

ng 

D £ L  

B8 Continue to provide EV chargers to new build homes and introduce to 

refurbishment projects.  Future proof parking bays by installing 

infrastructure so additional chargers can be added. 

2020-

ongoi

ng  

D ££ Enabli

ng 

 

B9 Review the design specifications for acquisitions and procurements to 

include opportunities to build carbon neutral homes – of Passivhaus 

standard or equivalent. 

2022 D £ H  

B10 Review of Design Awards criteria to place greater emphasis on 

sustainability goals. 

2021 S £ Enabli

ng 

 

 B11 Produce a Supplementary Planning Document that will support 2021 E £ Enabli  
H P 

H 

H W 

H W 

P 

H P 

H P 

H P 

H P 

P
age 73



Carbon Neutrality Action Plan – V10 Final 

 

30 
 

developments consistent with the policy of carbon neutrality.  ng 

B12 Produce a sustainability checklist for the use of officers and members for 

the review of planning applications in order to ensure that full account is 

taken of all criteria in relation to the consideration of planning applications.  

2021 S £ Enabli

ng 

 

B13 Produce a checklist for developers to audit sustainability in planning 

applications.  

2021 S £ Enabli

ng 

 

Waste and 
Resources 

W1 Investigate  feasibility of a community composting scheme to reduce the 

necessity of garden waste collection 

2021 D £ Enabli

ng 

 

W2 Introduce the kerbside collection of textiles & WEEE to promote recycling 

and reduce the need for residents to drive to bring sites. 

2021 D ££ Enabli

ng 

 

W3 Develop a plan for becoming a zero waste borough through encouraging 

waste reduction and reuse as well as recycling both in respect of domestic 

waste and commercial and industrial waste. 

2021 L £ Lobby

ing 

 

Land Use and 
Adaptation 

L1 Work with Parish and Town councils and relevant not-for-profit 

organisations to encourage local food production via allotments and 

community Farms. 

2021 E/S £ Enabli

ng 

 

L2 Investigate the opportunity to identify unused land that can be used for 

local food production. 

2021 E/S £ Enabli

ng 

 

L3 Provide a badge system for local (less than 30 miles) producers of food. 2022 E/S £ Enabli

ng 

 

L4 Adoption  of policies that will enhance the natural environment such as: 

 Biodiversity policy and action plan. 

 Pesticide policy with a view to phasing out the use of pesticides 

 Tree /hedgerow planting policy taking a sustainable approach to 

2020 D £ Enabli

ng 

 

H P 

H P 

W 

E 

E 

W 

E W 

P
age 74



Carbon Neutrality Action Plan – V10 Final 

 

31 
 

planting, provide succession for tree stock that are able to cope 

with future diseases and pests and opportunity to offset carbon. 

L5 Work with SCC to replace and renew the roadside verge with new and 

replacement plans, and the removal of stumps, refine grass cutting regime 

consistent with the highest biodiversity standards and promote rewilding. 

2020 S ££££ Enabli

ng 

 

L6 Support the Wey and Arun Canal Trust in the renovation and upgrade of 

the canal path. 

2021 S £ Enabli

ng 

 

L7 Facilitate and support a multi-agency bid for some of the £33 million 

available for flood elevation schemes. Focus will be to utilise the concept 

of natural flood risk management achieving the objectives of lowering flood 

risk and planting trees and restoring marshland. 

2021 S £ Mitiga

ting 

 

Green Economy 

GE1 Develop a strategy to provide incentives and support for local businesses 

to operate on a carbon neutral model. 

2021 E £ Enabli

ng 

 

GE2 Develop a business award scheme to incentivise local businesses to 

become carbon neutral. 

2022 S £ Enabli

ng 

 

  

P 

E 

E 

P
age 75



Carbon Neutrality Action Plan – V10 Final 

 

32 
 

Medium Term Actions 2024-2026 

 

Key focus area  Actions 

D
a

te
 

C
o

u
n

c
il

s
 r

o
le

 

C
o

s
t 

in
d

ic
a
ti

o

n
 

C
a

rb
o

n
 

im
p

a
c
t 

C
o

- 

b
e
n

e
fi

ts
 

Organisational 

Emissions 

 

O19 

Review the carbon implications of the grounds maintenance contract, from 

vehicles and equipment, at the next contract evaluation point in 2024. All 

vehicles to be zero carbon by 2030 as part of a phased programme. 

2024 

and 

2029 

D £££ H 

 

O20 
Investigate the relocation the council office headquarters as part of a re-

development of the Burys.  Carbon neutral buildings should be prioritised.  

2023-

25 
D £ M 

 

O21 Switch to green tariff at the end of the current energy procurement contract. 2024 D £ L  

Active Travel 

and Air Quality 

T7 
Work with SCC and Town & Parish councils to introduce residential parking 

permits that encourage the use of electric vehicles. 
2025 E £ Enabling 

 

T8 

Develop and implement plans for a network of cycle routes across Waverley, 

in partnership with Surrey County Council, ensuring that by 2030 all towns 

and main population centers are connected by dedicate cycle routes. 

 Godalming/Haslemere/ Farnham/ Cranleigh 

2025 

 
E ££££ Enabling 

 

T9 

Introduce a bike hire scheme in all major hubs with allocated parking bays at 

railway stations, bus terminals, in town centers and at university and 

educational sites. 

2025 E £££ Enabling 

 

T10 
Introduce a pool of electric scooters across Waverley that can be used for 

short journeys, once legalised for use on roads and/or pavements. 
2025 E ££ Enabling 

 

T11 
Investigate the option for uber buses to be available across the borough 

particularly in outlying areas not currently serviced by alternative public 
2025 E £££ Enabling 

 

W 

W 

W 

E W 

P
age 76



Carbon Neutrality Action Plan – V10 Final 

 

33 
 

transport. Extension of the Hoppa service to cover a wider population  

T12 Investigate the introduction of bylaws to prohibit garden bonfires 2025 E £ Enabling  

T13 

Investigate the possibility of having smoke control areas within Waverley.  

This will ensure only authorised fuels in approved appliances (exempted 

stoves) can be used 

2025 E £ Enabling 

 

T14 

Investigate working with businesses to encourage home working where 

appropriate and introducing charging for work place parking spaces and 

promote the switch to electric vehicles and the use of public transport. 

2023 E £ Enabling 

 

Built 

Environment 
B14 

Review the climate change policies within the Local Plan Part 1. Review due 5 

years from adoption. 

Feb 

2023 
E/S £ Enabling 

 

Waste and 

Resources 
W4 

Encourage Surrey County Council to use its powers to stop fossil fuel mineral 

extraction in Waverley. 
ongoing L  Lobbying 

 

 

  

W P
age 77



Carbon Neutrality Action Plan – V10 Final 

 

34 
 

Long Term Actions 2027-2030 

 

Key focus area No Actions 

D
a

te
 

C
o

u
n

c
il

s
 r

o
le

 

C
o

s
t 

in
d

ic
a
ti

o

n
 

C
a

rb
o

n
 

Im
p

a
c
t 

C
o

- 

b
e
n

e
fi

ts
 

Organisational 
Emissions 

 

O20 

Renegotiate the spec of the waste contract, at the next contract break, to 

include: 

 Investigation of the implications of reducing bin collections. (Monthly 

bin collections for refuse / rather than fortnightly). 

 Investigation of the implications of increasing the green waste 

collections at peak seasonal times. Additional collections of leaves can 

reduce the number of bonfires. 

2027 D 
£££/ 

££££ 
H 

 

Active Travel 
and Air Quality 

T15 

Develop and implement plans for a network of cycle routes across Waverley, 

in partnership with Surrey County Council, ensuring that by 2030 all towns 

and main population centers are connected by dedicate cycle routes. 

 Connectivity to Milford, Elstead, Witley, Chiddingfold, Hindhead, 

Dunsfold, Bramley, Tilford, Frensham by 2030 

By 

2030 
E/S ££££ 

Enabli

ng 

 

Energy 
Generation 

E6 
Investigate the option for micro hydro electricity generation on rivers/ at mills 

within Waverley. 
2025 D £ 

Enabli

ng 

 

 

E W 

P
age 78



 

 

  

Waverley Borough Council   
Climate Change and 

Sustainability Strategy 
 

 

Latest version number: V1 

Latest publication date: 21/02/2020 

Page 79



 

2 

 

Document Information & Governance 

Approval & Publication: 

 Approving 

Body 

 Approval 

route 

requirement 

 Publication 

Type 

 Publication 

requirement 

 Review 

frequency 

 Document 

owner 

 Next 

Review 

Date 

 Executive    External       

 

Version Control Information: 

Version Version Status  
(Draft, Approved 
/Published 
Internally or 
Externally) 

Date Version Comment  Version Author 

V0.1 Draft   Creation of the document Delma Bryant 

V0.2 Draft  SMT & Portfolio Holder Delma Bryant 

V0.3 Draft  Portfolio Holder Delma Bryant 

V0.4 Draft  Executive briefing Delma Bryant 

V1 Published   1st Publication Delma Bryant 

V1.1 Draft  In year corrections  

V1.2 Final Approved & 
Re-Publication 

 In year correction approval by 
Management Board 

 

V2 Final  Further amendments Fotini Vickers 

 

Impact Assessments and Consideration: 

 Impact Assessment 

Type 

 Required / 

Not Required 

 Date 

Completed 

 Impact  Assessments and 

Considerations Comment  

 Assessment 

Owner 

 Equality Impact 

Assessment 

 Document is 

being 

produced in 

conjunction 

with the 

Climate 

Change 

Action Plan 

      

 Health in all Policies       

 Data Protection Impact 

Assessment 

      

 Climate Change        

 

 

 

Table of Contents 

 

Page 80



 

3 

 

Document Information & Governance ...................................................................... 2 

Executive Summary ................................................................................................. 4 

Introduction .............................................................................................................. 4 

Vision and Aim ......................................................................................................... 5 

Climate Change and Sustainability .......................................................................... 6 

Objectives ................................................................................................................ 7 

National Context ....................................................................................................... 9 

Local Context ........................................................................................................... 9 

Action Plan ............................................................................................................. 10 

How it fits with other strategies............................................................................... 10 

Implementation....................................................................................................... 10 

Year on Year Targets ............................................................................................. 11 

Climate Resilience ................................................................................................. 11 

Air Quality .............................................................................................................. 13 

Sustainable Travel ................................................................................................. 14 

Buildings and Energy Efficiency ............................................................................. 15 

Waste ..................................................................................................................... 15 

Energy Generation ................................................................................................. 16 

Countryside and Biodiversity .................................................................................. 16 

Planning Policy....................................................................................................... 16 

 

  

Page 81



 

4 

 

Executive Summary 

This document is the third strategy document since 2010 aimed at carbon 

management, energy efficiency and sustainability. It needs to be seen in the 

context of the council’s declaration of a climate emergency on Wednesday 18th 

September 2019 and the subsequent action plan detailing actions the council will 

take over the next ten years as we aim to be carbon neutral by 2030.  

 

Waverley is a growing borough however, it is vital that transport, developments and 

businesses are sustainable to ensure that whilst meeting the needs of the current 

generation we do so without compromising the ability of future generations to meet 

their own needs. 

 

Waverley’s Carbon Management Plan 2011-2015 targeted a reduction in CO2 

emissions of 25% by 2015.  This was superseded in 2015 by the Energy Efficient 

Plan 2015-2020 which targeted a 3% reduction in emissions year on year. A 

number of projects including the installation of energy efficient boilers, solar panels 

on the Burys, LED lighting in our office and in our car parks and introduction of pool 

cars were completed to contribute to that target.  Overall between 2008 and 2014 

there was an 8.5% reduction in carbon emissions.  

 

Previously, there has been a number of challenges including limited budgets, lack 

of political commitment, changes in service delivery and data accuracy. However 

many lessons have been learnt.  Waverley has now made a political and 

organisational commitment to embed carbon reduction into all we do, consider 

energy efficiency at the start of projects, identify opportunities and plan ahead and 

implement robust data collection.  

 

Introduction 

The UK Climate Change Act 2008 sets a 

statutory target to reduce UK greenhouse 

gas emissions by 80% from 1990 figures by 

2050.  The Intergovernmental Panel on 

Page 82



 

5 

 

Climate Change (IPCC) in their October 2018 report warned that it would take an 

international effort to limit global warming to 1.5°C. However humanity is falling far 

short of the action necessary to limit warming to even 2°C. To fail would result in 

increasing episodes of large-scale water and food shortages, widespread flooding, 

heat-related morbidity and large scale destruction of the natural world and its 

biodiversity. In May 2019, the UK Committee on Climate Change recommended 

that the UK Government respond by increasing their target to net-zero greenhouse 

gas emissions by 2050.  The Government has now adopted this target and on the 

1st May 2019 the House of Commons passed a motion declaring a national climate 

change emergency.  

 

On 18th September 2019, Waverley Borough Council unanimously declared a 

Climate Emergency and committed itself to being carbon neutral by 2030 to help 

reduce the risk of temperatures rising in excess of 1.5°C.  Whilst many solutions to 

climate change need to be tackled at a national or international level, all levels of 

government, communities, businesses and individuals have a role to play in 

addressing climate change. The council has a key role to play in mitigating the 

effects of climate change – both as a community leader and through the services, 

we provide. We will focus on doing all we can to prevent climate change by 

reducing our emissions on our sites and in the services we provide; we will ensure 

our services are resilient and adaptable enough to respond to the impacts of 

climate change; and we will provide community leadership so that residents and 

businesses are able to get involved in preventing climate change rather than simply 

preparing for it. 

 

 

 

Vision and Aim 

 

Waverley’s newly adopted corporate strategy outlines the council’s vision. With 

regard to the climate emergency commitment the council is committed to: 

Promote and sustain a sense of responsibility by all for our 

environment, promoting biodiversity, championing the green 

economy and protecting our planet. 
Page 83



 

6 

 

 

Our aim is to become a net zero-carbon council by 2030, encouraging carbon 

reduction and the promotion of biodiversity and sustainable homes, businesses and 

transport across the borough.  

We will achieve this by: 

 implementing Waverley’s Carbon Neutrality Action Plan 2020-2030 

 promoting reduction and re-use as well as recycling so as to achieve our targets 

on household waste and recycling 

 promoting a pedestrian-friendly and cycle-friendly transport network   

 taking action on air quality issues, especially those caused by vehicle emissions, 

and encouraging zero-carbon buses and taxis 

 working with partners to ensure the environmental stewardship of our open 

spaces are of the highest quality including the promotion of biodiversity, rewilding 

and the phasing out of pesticide use other than in exceptional and defined 

circumstances 

 making Waverley Borough Council a zero carbon organisation, including the 
offices and other assets, by working with staff and partners to implement carbon 
reduction schemes and other projects. 

 

Climate Change and Sustainability 

Sustainable development is defined1 as development that meets the needs of the 

present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their needs.  

 

For Waverley to be a sustainable council, it is important that we do all in our power 

to safeguard our environment for present and future generations and play our part 

in promoting biodiversity as well as making our contribution to preventing the 

extremely serious consequences of severe climate change through carbon 

reduction strategies. 

 

Waverley Borough Council’s challenge is to play its part in local, regional, national 

and international efforts to become carbon neutral and support the efforts of 

households, businesses and other local organisations in Waverley to do the same 

whilst, preparing for the possible impact of unavoidable climate change.  

 

                                            
1
 The Brundtland Commission 

Page 84



 

7 

 

Whatever action is taken over the next decade, climate change will seriously affect 

the social, economic and environmental well-being of Waverley’s communities and 

businesses. The extent of the damage to be mitigated and the cost of the mitigation 

measures are dependent on what is done from now to bring down net carbon 

emissions. However, there will be unavoidable damage and unavoidable costs of 

mitigation.  

 

As a public sector organisation the council has a responsibility to look after the 

local environment and the people in the borough, including those who are most 

vulnerable. The council will therefore need to ensure that the services delivered 

avoid the worst impacts. 

 

The council will prepare for extreme 

weather events including: increased 

temperatures with risks to health from heat 

waves, increased risk of wild fires, greater 

pressure on water resources, surface water 

and fluvial flooding and damage to existing 

natural habitats. 

 

Many of the council’s services are likely to be impacted by the predicted increase in 

magnitude of weather events and the council will now begin planning how to 

incorporate resilience building to maintain future service provision. By future 

proofing our services the council will aim to avoid increasing common costs in 

relation to extreme weather events such as service downtime or damage to 

physical resources. 

Objectives 

The council as a consumer of resources, a 

service provider and a community leader, has a 

key role in leading Waverley’s communities 

towards sustainable and lower carbon lifestyles 

and enabling moves to adopt them. As outlined 

Page 85



 

8 

 

above, in September 2019 WBC declared a Climate Emergency and committed to 

becoming carbon neutral by 2030. 

 

To meet this objective the council will: 

 take into account the potential impact on the climate and the environment in all 

Council decisions. This will be embedded in strategic decision making, budgets, 

approaches to planning decisions and through updates to policy and guidelines; 

 require as part of the procurement process that the environmental impact of 

service provision is considered alongside financial and ethical considerations. 

This should include, steps to be taken to minimize/offset the carbon impact and 

ensure that 100% renewable energy and low or zero carbon technologies are 

used where possible; 

 reduce its dependence on fossil fuel energy to zero by 2030 by incorporating 

efficient and zero carbon technologies in the council owned properties and fleet; 

 actively encourage all Councillors, Officers and Services to work with other 

services, contractors, businesses and residents to reduce their emissions;  

  

Page 86



 

9 

 

 consider carbon offsetting to mitigate carbon emissions that cannot be avoided. 

 produce a Carbon Neutrality Action Plan to guide the route to carbon neutrality, 

modifying the actions as appropriate in order to keep on track with the year-on-

year targets for carbon reduction. 

National Context 

In 2008 the UK passed the Climate Change Act which committed the UK to lower 

their net UK carbon account for greenhouse gases by at least 80% of the 1990 

baseline by 2050.  In 2019 the Climate Change Act’s targets were revised setting a 

new target of net-zero emissions by 2050.  

Local Context 

On 18th September 2019 Waverley noted the urgency to respond to climate change 

and agreed the following: 

 

 Waverley Borough Council declares a ‘Climate Emergency’ that requires urgent 

action. 

 Waverley Borough Council aims to become carbon neutral by 2030, taking into 

account both production and consumption emissions, and will take a leadership 

role to achieve this working with other councils, including town and parish 

councils within the borough. 

 Waverley Borough Council recognises that the achievement of the target will 

require central government to provide the powers, funding and other resources 

to achieve the target and therefore calls on the government to provide such 

powers, funding and other resources as appropriate to facilitate achieving the 

2030 target. 

 Officers are required to provide to the Executive, within six months of the date of 

this decision, a report on the actions the council can take to address these 

issues together with an action plan, specifying year on year milestones and 

metrics to show progress towards achieving the goal of carbon neutrality by 

2030 noting any additional costs that might be involved. 

 

The adoption of the Carbon Management Plan in 2010 and the Energy Efficiency 

Plan in 2015 took the council through a carbon reduction journey. Since 2008 we 

Page 87



 

10 

 

have seen a natural growth in population and social housing provision, we have 

increased the service provision in several areas and by 2015 we have managed to 

maintain our absolute carbon emissions at the same level as in 2008.  

Action Plan  

The Carbon Neutrality Action Plan 2020-2030 provides a statement of the councils’ 

areas of focus and pathways to achieving a carbon neutral council by 2030. It is 

intended to be a live document that will continually evolve and it will be formally 

reviewed annually to report on progress. 

 

How it fits with other strategies 

The Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy is and overarching framework 

bringing together existing areas of work. 

 

Biodiversity Policy Electric Vehicle Strategy 

Tree Planting Policy Green Spaces Strategy 

Air Quality Action Plan Contaminated Land Strategy 

Pesticides Policy Local Cycling & Walking 

Infrastructure Plan 

Waverley Borough Council 

Cycle Plan Supplementary 

Planning Document 

Single Use Plastic Policy 

 

Implementation 

The implementation of the strategy and action plan will begin in 2020. The strategy 

and the actions to deliver the strategy will be reviewed annually to monitor the 

progress and identify new and emerging priorities. Results will be published on the 

council’s website. 

 

 

Page 88



 

11 

 

Year on Year Targets 

Carbon reduction will be reviewed annually to monitor progress against the net 

zero carbon target by 2030.  

Climate Resilience 

Climate Change is likely to lead to an 

increase in extreme weather patterns. 

Winters are expected to be wetter with high 

intensity rainfall over prolonged periods of 

time leading to surface water, groundwater 

and fluvial flooding. Summers will be hotter 

and drier which could result in droughts and 

an increased the risk of wildfires. 

 

A more resilient Borough: 

Waverley is aware that resilience can be increased during both the disaster 

preparedness phases and the disaster response phases. In the same way that we 

maintain a state of preparedness for other events and catastrophes we would 

otherwise wish to avoid, we shall continue to make contingency plans for events 

arising from the failure of world governments to act to heed the warnings of climate 

scientists. 

 

At a Local Authority level, resilience can be increased through the following means: 

planning, multi-agency working, risk assessing, identification of vulnerable people, 

warning and informing and facilitating the action of the local public to protect 

themselves. To mitigate against economic and energy risks, local generation of 

renewable energy through community energy projects should be facilitated. 

 

 

Page 89



 

12 

 

To mitigate the risk from flooding the council will work with the Environment Agency 

and Surrey County Council (SCC) through the flood risk partnership board to 

ensure areas within Waverley which have a high frequency flooding receive the 

protection to reduce the impact. 

 

Waverley sees the benefits of natural flood risk management during the 

preparedness phases. This management system has been proven by other 

projects across the UK as not only an effected way of slowing run-off and fluvial 

flow rates, but also proved that emission heavy, hard engineering is not always 

necessary.  

 

Mitigating the risk of drought and wildfires means the council working with Public 

Health England (PHE), the NHS and Surrey Fire and Rescue Service (SFRS). PHE 

currently provides guidance on drought action and Waverley will be looking to them 

to lead on diagnosing the medical impacts on residents of extreme heat. Waverley 

will play a key role in communicating with residents how to protect themselves from 

extreme heat. SFRS and the County Council will be consulted on what measures 

the council can help facilitate in order to prevent fire and increase awareness and 

education on wildfire. 

 

The Civil Contingencies Act (2004) ensures that this Council will continue to invest 

and engage in emergency planning and resilience building as per its statutory duty. 

By working with the Surrey Local Resilience Forum, Waverley will have access to 

all stakeholders working to build resilience to extreme weather events. 

 

A more resilient Council: 

Waverley acknowledges that larger magnitude weather events will cause disruption 

at a higher level then seen before, resulting in a need for assurance that the council 

can continue to function during such periods. 

 

In order to adapt to increased weather events in both frequency and magnitude 

Waverley must ensure its business continuity practices adapt to increase its ability 

to cope with downtime. Through the creation of a business continuity, management 

Page 90



 

13 

 

system Waverley is able to calculate the minimum level of 

service it can provide with certain staffing and 

infrastructure available. 

 

This will involve encouraging flexible working, building on 

the practices of remote working during the Covid-19 

pandemic and remove a reliance on systems and 

infrastructure which can easily be impacted by weather 

events. The result should be an organisation that can adapt and through planning, 

has multiple ways of continuing a certain level of service, no matter the event type. 

 

Council buildings can be made more resilient to interruptions in supply of electricity 

from the national grid by adding PV and battery systems to council buildings, 

creating an “electrical gateway” which allows the buildings’ electrical circuits to 

island from the grid during power cuts with the battery continuing to supply power, 

allowing normal operations to continue uninterrupted. 

Air Quality 

Air quality and climate change are closely interrelated with many common air 

pollutants. The Environment Act 1995 requires local authorities to check local air 

quality against objectives set to protect human health. Where the objective is 

exceeded an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) is declared. 

 

There are two AQMAs (Farnham and Godalming) in Waverley area due to traffic 

causing annual average nitrogen dioxide levels to exceed the air quality objective 

at relevant receptors.  

 

The main sources of air pollution in Waverley include: 

 Road transport; private vehicles, public transport, taxi’s and private hire 

vehicles, HGVs (delivery and service vehicles) 

 Buildings; heating and cooling of homes and workplaces 

 Construction; dust and emissions from construction and demolition activities 

including non-road mobile machinery 

Page 91



 

14 

 

 Wood burning, such as garden waste bonfires and domestic wood burning 

(open fireplaces and stoves) 

 

Sustainable Travel 

Transport was the largest emitting sector of Waverley greenhouse gas emissions in 

2015.  Whilst the council has less control over public transport as those 

responsibilities are with the national government and SCC, it will take action within 

its own powers in support of  electrification and hydrogen alternatives and more 

sustainable transport while lobbying SCC and government as appropriate. 

 

The council can however influence the reduction of emissions directly by: 

 encouraging council staff to look at alternative ways of travelling to work based 

on a Transport Impact Hierarchy; 

 working with towns and parishes and our neighbouring councils to increase the 

number of cycle paths in key areas across the borough and providing good 

quality cycle parking close to key destinations; 

 reducing business travel by adopting a range of infrastructure and behavioural 

changes; 

 asking contractors to contribute to the carbon neutral goal when they update 

their business plans and ensure that climate resilience is built into their forward 

plans; 

 promoting taxi drivers transitioning to more energy efficient cars and electric 

vehicles as well as changing licensing requirements as appropriate; 

 encouraging drivers in Waverley to switch to electric vehicles and other low 

emission vehicles by the roll out its own EV chargers and any alternative energy 

sources that subsequently become available across the borough in our car 

parks, developments and leisure centres and lobbying large businesses to 

install workplace chargers; 

Page 92



 

15 

 

 requiring the provision of EV chargers for new developments through the 

planning process; 

 supporting the development of a Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 

(LCWIP) for the borough, following DfT guidelines; 

 updating the Cycle Plan Supplementary Planning Document (2006); 

 ensuring that planning powers are used as far as is possible to promote 

sustainability. 

 

Buildings and Energy Efficiency 

The council will carry out energy audits to identify opportunities for energy 

conservation, efficiencies and cost savings. The audits will enable the council to 

develop energy investment strategies for its facilities. Long term plans will be 

developed to reduce emissions and improve the energy efficiency when retrofitting 

Council owned properties and build carbon neutral new homes.  

 

The role out of LED lighting will continue in our properties and car parks where 

suitable and an electric vehicle charger infrastructure will be expanded across key 

car parks, on council owned developments and in a joint pilot with SCC on 

residential streets. 

Waste 

Waverley will embed reduce, reuse, 

recycle into everything waste 

related. There will be campaigns 

aimed at residents, businesses and 

schools to encourage an overall 

reduction in waste. To support the efforts to 

recycle the council will expand its kerbside collections to include textiles and Waste 

Electrical and Electronic Equipment (WEEE). Within the council offices, a Single 

Use Plastic policy will aim to remove all single use plastic from our operations. 

 

Page 93



 

16 

 

Working with SCC and our contractors the council will ensure waste and recycling 

operations are conducted in the most sustainable way and look for opportunities to 

reduce emissions.  

Energy Generation 

Waverley will look at ways to increase renewable energy generation and use both 

on its own properties and within its requirements through the planning process.  the 

council will maximize opportunities to install solar panels on Council owned assets.  

 

Countryside and Biodiversity 

The council will improve and protect the biodiversity and ecology of their green 

spaces and protect them against the negative impacts of climate change. Tree 

planting and biodiversity policies will be prepared and delivered to ensure they are 

considered both in policy and practice across the council’s services. 

 

 

The management of green spaces will incorporate extensive rewilding, 

habitat/pollinator friendly trees, scrub and flowers. Measures of biodiversity and bio 

abundance will be used to monitor progress. 

 

Planning Policy 

The council’s Planning Department through their processes will use the legislation, 

Local Plans and Supplementary Planning Documents to ensure developments are 

sustainable, energy efficient, use renewable energy and Passivhaus standards 

where possible.  

Page 94



Climate Emergency Action Plan Consultation 2020 

 
An online consultation was carried out on the Climate Emergency Action Plan for 10 weeks between August and 
October 2020.  960 people responded to the online consultation and 9 additional emails were received.  

Requests to take part in the consultation were shared with town and parish councils, businesses, Waverley tenants, 
Councillors and staff members as well as shared in the local news and on social medial.  Regular social media posts 
reached 140,500 people across Twitter, FB, Instagram, LinkedIn. 

Nine main questions were asked to help focus and prioritise the Climate Emergency Action Plan. Responses below. 

Q1 How important is climate change to you? 

Very important – 76.95% and Quite important – 16.42% 

 
Q2 Are you more concerned about the impact of climate change now than you were 12 months ago? 

Yes – 73.02% 

 
Q3 What do you think would help you to reduce your own carbon footprint?  Highest score most important. 

 

 
Q4 What is currently preventing you from being more environmentally friendly? Lowest weighting most important 

 

Q5 How important do you think it is that local councils should lead by example and take action on climate change 
by declaring a climate emergency and producing a climate change action plan? 

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

Bike hire schemes

Provision of allotments to support local food production

Composting scheme

Opportunity to choose to use electric buses/taxis

Opportunities for green community transport

More electric vehicle charging points

Shopping at package-free premises

More safe cycle lanes across the borough

Guidance on available funding to make my home more energy…

Increased options for upcycling and reusing

Lowest                                       Score                               Highest 

Question 3 

0 0.5 1 1.5 2 2.5 3 3.5 4 4.5 5

I don’t believe climate change is an issue 

I don’t know how to 

I feel like I do enough already

I can’t afford to be carbon neutral 

Lack of infrastructure (e.g. road networks, cycle lanes,…

Lowest                              Weighting                         Highest                            

Question 4 

Page 95



Extremely Important – 69.33% and  Very important – 18.57% 

 
Q6 Do you think Waverley Borough Council should tackle its own emissions as a priority? 

Yes – 89.10% 

 
Q7 In order to achieve carbon neutrality by 2030, the council will need to change the way it provides some council 
services. Do you agree with the council doing the following? Lowest weighting most important 

 

 
Q8 Some of the future climate change actions are likely to involve the borough changing. Do you agree or disagree 
with the following changes? Lowest weighting most important 

 

 
Q9 How do you think the council can best support communities to tackle climate change and increase sustainable 
activity in the borough? Lowest weighting most important 

0 0.5 1 1.5 2 2.5 3 3.5 4 4.5 5

None of the above

Retrofit all existing council housing to achieve the highest…

Invest in energy efficiency of its own buildings

Invest in renewable projects

Invest in low carbon transport choices when it comes to fleet…

Build new Council Housing to carbon neutral standards

Lowest                        Weighted                  Highest 

A
xi

s 
Ti

tl
e 

Question 7 

0 0.5 1 1.5 2 2.5 3 3.5 4 4.5 5

None of the above

More electric vehicle charging points

More cycle paths

Develop heat networks, sharing heat amongst several buildings…

Local solar projects (solar farms or community renewable schemes

Plant more trees

More recycling and reusing services/facilities

Lowest                         Weighting                       Highest 

Question 8 

Page 96



 

 

As well as the main questions, there was an opportunity to make general comments on the action plan. 503 
comments were received across all aspects of the action plan and strategy.  

 53 people took the opportunity to support the climate change action plan and declaration whilst 9 did not.  

 A major concern was the cost implication not only for the council but also for already struggling residents. 
39 people felt it was just not affordable, services would suffer or council taxes would have to rise which 
only 1 person felt they would be happy to pay.  

 Transport was highlighted by many with 24 asking for improved public transport across the borough 
including electric buses, 21 asked for more electric vehicle chargers and 15 asked for better 
paths/segregated paths for pedestrians.  Whilst 42 asked for improved cycle paths and promotion of cycling 
10 people opposed this with 2 saying that public transport or walking should take priority over cycling.  

 Tree planting was also supported with 10 asking that we plan more trees, however 2 people asked that we 
preserve/manage existing woodlands better. 3 people asked that we preserve on increase the number of 
green spaces for residents.  

 48 people commented on planning with a majority asking for either stricter requirements or to stop building 
on greenbelt or near river courses whilst 2 people suggested with should require developers to contribute 
meaningful amounts to support local communities.  

 

0 0.5 1 1.5 2 2.5

Offer financial incentives to local community and business…

Provide opportunities for businesses to work together to…

Educate and inform the community on the benefits of…

Lobby the government to support greener gas and electricity…

Encourage other organizations in the borough to sign up to…

Encourage more walking and cycling through investment in…

Support local food production (grow your own/identify local…

Change planning policies to encourage carbon neutrality in the…

Lowest                      Weighting                    Highest     

Question 9 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



 

WAVERLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EXECUTIVE 
 

1 DECEMBER 2020 

 
Title:  

Boundary Commission Electoral Review 

2020 - 2022 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr John Ward, Leader, Cllr Paul Follows, Deputy Leader 
 
Head of Service: Tom Horwood, Chief Executive 
 
Key decision: No 
 
Access:  Public  

 
 
1. Purpose and summary 
 
1.1 The Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) has notified 

the Council that it will conduct an electoral review of the Borough during 2020-2022.  
The review process has now commenced. It would be preferable for the Council to 
put forward a single agreed submission and so this report seeks approval to appoint 
an Informal Working Party to prepare a recommendation to the Executive on the 
preferred size of the Council which is the first stage of the Commission’s review. 
The submission must be made by the end of February 2021 and therefore will need 
to be debated by Full Council no later than its February 2021 meeting. 

 
2. Recommendation 
 
 It is recommended that the Executive 
 

i. Approve the setting up of an Informal Working Group of councillors, composed 
as described in paragraph 4.3.  

ii. Ask the Informal Working Group to bring forward recommendations (on the 
LGBCE ‘Size Submission’ document relating to the size of the Council from 
2023) for consideration at the Executive’s February 2021 meeting at the latest 
so that the Executive can, in turn, make recommendations for the Full Council to 
debate at its February 2021 meeting.    

 
3. Reason for the recommendation 

 
3.1      This recommendation is to facilitate a cross-party approach to the Boundary Review 

submission and to ensure the deadline of the end of February 2021 is met. 
 
4. Background 

 
4.1      The LGBCE has a statutory duty to review every English local authority ‘from time to 

time’. As Waverley has not had an electoral review since 1998 the Commission has 
advised the Council that a review will commence in 2020 and take effect at the May 

Page 99

Agenda Item 10



 

2023 elections. The aim of the review is to seek to deliver electoral equality for 
voters in local elections and will therefore propose new electoral arrangements for: 

 The total number of councillors to be elected to the council: council size. 

 The names, number and boundaries of wards. 

 The number of councillors to be elected from each ward. 
 
4.2     The process for the review was presented at the All-Councillor Briefing on 12 

November and the slides from that evening are set out at Annexe 1 for reference. 
 

4.3      The first stage of the process is to submit the ‘Size Submission’ document which is 
set out at Annexe 2 to this report. It is considered preferable that one submission is 
made reflecting the agreed position of the Council. However, in the situation where 
consensus cannot be achieved alternative submissions can be made. To achieve a 
consensus it is suggested that a cross-party Informal Working Group be set up with 
two representatives from the three larger political Groups and one each from the 
two smaller political Groups, nominated by Group Leaders, together with one 
Independent Councillor. It is anticipated that the Working Group will need to meet 
up to five times on a regular basis as the final submission will need approval by 
Council on 23 February 2021. 
 
Stage One Timetable 

Group Leaders Briefing 10 November 2020 

All Councillors Briefing  12 November 2020 

Develop council size proposal December 2020 – February 2021 

Working Group reports to Executive 
meeting 

9 February 2021 

Council debates size proposal 23 February 2021 

Submission of Council Size Proposal to 
Commission 

9 March 2021 

 
Stage Two Timetable 

Consultation on Warding Patterns 27 April – 5 July 2021 

Draft Recommendations considered by 
Commission 

21 September 2021 

Consultation on draft recommendations 5 October – 13 December 2021 

Final recommendations considered by 
Commission 

15 February 2022 

Order laid Spring 2022 

Order made Summer 2022 

Implementation May 2023 
 

 
5. Relationship to the Corporate Strategy and Service Plan 
 
5.1 The review’s core principles of establishing, as far as possible, a structure for fair 

and accountable local democracy reflects the Council’s vision, particularly open, 

democratic and participative governance.  

 
6. Implications of decision 
 
6.1 Resource (Finance, procurement, staffing, IT)  

Page 100



 

The Commission has confirmed that most of the work for the review is undertaken 
by the Commission. However, there will inevitably be an overhead of staff time in 
preparing data and supporting the process. Expectation is that this will be met from 
current approved resource. Members of the Value for Money Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee have asked to be updated on the Council resources applied to the 
review. 
 

6.2 Risk management 
Appropriate risk assessments will be undertaken as necessary. 

  
6.3 Legal 

The Boundary Review will be conducted by the Commission in accordance with 
statute. Any changes to the district would be made by Parliamentary Order to take 
effect at the next Borough Council elections in May 2023. The Council has a duty to 
support the Commission’s work and to provide input to that work. 

 
6.4 Equality, diversity and inclusion 

An equality impact assessment will be carried out to ensure the consultation 
process meets the requirements of the Public Sector Equality Duty under the 
Equality Act 2010. 
 

6.5 Climate emergency declaration 
Until the outcome of the review is known it is hard to analyse the effects of the 
outcome on carbon emission levels. 

 
7. Consultation and engagement 
 
7.1 Consultation is a major part of the Boundary Review process. At the start of the 

review, briefing sessions have been held for all Borough Councillors and a similar 
event is planned for the Town and Parish Councils. 

 
8. Other options considered 
 
8.1 The review is being conducted by the LGBCE with input from the council. A cross-

party councillor working group is a common approach used to develop a council 
size submission.  

 
9. Governance journey 
 
9.1 The Informal Working Group will report to the Executive whose recommendations 

on the Size Submission will be considered by Council. It is the responsibility of the 
LGBCE to conduct the boundary review. The LGBCE welcomes a submission from 
the Council and will receive any submissions if submitted in time before it takes its 
decision on council size. 

 
Annexes: 
 
Annexe 1 – Slides from the All Councillor Briefing – 12 November 2020 
Annexe 2 – LGBCE Size Submission Template Document 

 
Background Papers 
 

Page 101



 

There are no background papers, as defined by Section 100D (5) of the Local Government 
Act 1972).  

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 
Name:  Louise Norie 
Position:  Corporate Policy Manager 
Telephone: 0148 3523464 
Email:  Louise.Norie@waverley.gov.uk 
 
Agreed and signed off by: 
Legal Services: 20 November 2020 
Head of Finance: 20 November 2020 
Chief Executive: 19 November 2020 
Portfolio Holder: 19 November 2020 

Page 102



1

Waverley Borough Council

Electoral Review

Full Council Briefing

November 2020

P
age 103



In all of our work we aim to be:

Impartial giving equal consideration to all views

Objective making recommendations based on evidence

Responsive listening to local opinion

Transparent following clear and open processes

Professional being reliable, efficient and helpful   

2

P
age 104



Why Waverley?
Waverley’s boundaries have been not reviewed since 1998

P
age 105



BALLOT 
BOX

Part 1

• Total number of councillors

Part 2

• Total number of wards

• Ward boundaries

• Number of councillors elected to 
each ward

• Names of each ward

What does an 

Electoral Review 

determine? 

P
age 106



Review Process

Part 1: 

Councillor 

Numbers

Part 2: 

Warding 

Arrangements

P
age 107



Review Process

Part 1: 

Councillor 

Numbers

Part 2: 

Warding 

Arrangements

P
age 108



Effective submissions address:

Part 1: Councillor Numbers 

RepresentationDecision Making
Scrutiny & 

partnerships

P
age 109



Part 1: Councillor Numbers 

Representation
Decision 

Making

Scrutiny & 

partnerships

P
age 110



Part 1: Councillor Numbers 

RepresentationDecision Making
Scrutiny & 

partnerships

P
age 111



Part 1: Councillor Numbers 

RepresentationDecision Making
Scrutiny & 

partnerships

P
age 112



Review Process

Part 1: 

Councillor 

Numbers

Part 2: 

Warding 

Arrangements

P
age 113



Public engagement

Part 2: Warding Patterns

P
age 114



P
age 115



Public engagement

14

Part 2: Warding Patterns

P
age 116



Effective representations will address:

Electoral 

equality for 

voters

Effective and 

convenient local 

government

Community 

identities and 

interests

Part 2: Warding Patterns

P
age 117



Electoral 

equality for 

electors

Effective and 

convenient local 

government

Community 

identities and 

interests

Part 2: Warding Patterns

P
age 118



Electoral 

equality for 

electors

Effective and 

convenient local 

government

Community 

identities and 

interests

Part 2: Warding Patterns

P
age 119



Electoral 

equality for 

electors

Effective and 

convenient 

local 

government

Community 

identities and 

interests

Part 2: Warding Patterns

P
age 120



Review Timeline

Preliminary period/

No. councillors 

Now to March 2021

Consultation on 

warding  patterns

Consultation on draft 

recommendations

Final recommendations

P
age 121



Review Timeline

Preliminary period/

No. councillors 

Consultation on 

warding  patterns

27 April 2021 to 

5 July 2021

Consultation on draft 

recommendations

Final recommendations

P
age 122



Review Timeline

Preliminary period/

No. councillors 

Consultation on 

warding  patterns

Consultation on draft 

recommendations

5 October 2021 to 

13 December 2021

Final recommendations

P
age 123



Review Timeline

Preliminary period/

No. councillors 

Consultation on 

warding  patterns

Consultation on draft 

recommendations

Final recommendations

Published March 2022

Order Made Summer 

2022

Elected upon 2023

P
age 124



What we want:

• Rationale not assertion.

• What you DO & don’t like.

• Alternatives.

• Practical community examples.

• Consideration of all 3 statutory criteria.

We cannot consider:

• Political consequences.

• “It ain’t broke don’t fix it” arguments.

• Parliamentary boundaries.

• Postcodes or addresses.

• House prices & insurance.

Effective 
Representations 

P
age 125



• Website: www.lgbce.org.uk

• Make a submission: consultation.lgbce.org.uk

• Email: reviews@lgbce.org.uk

• Write: LGBCE c/o Cleardata

Innovation House

Coniston Court

Riverside Business Park

Blyth

NE24 4RP

• Facebook: LGBCE

• Twitter: @LGBCE

Get in touch

P
age 126

http://www.lgbce.org.uk/
http://consultation.lgbce.org.uk/
mailto:reviews@lgbce.org.uk


 
 

  

Local Government Boundary Commission for England 

Council Size Submission 
Template-NEW 
Waverley Borough Council 

P
age 127



 
 

Page | 1  
 

Contents 
How to Make a Submission .................................................................................................................................................................. 2 

About You ............................................................................................................................................................................................ 2 

Reason for Review (Request Reviews Only) ....................................................................................................................................... 2 

Local Authority Profile .......................................................................................................................................................................... 2 

Council Size ......................................................................................................................................................................................... 3 

Other Issues ......................................................................................................................................................................................... 8 

 
 
 
 

  P
age 128



 
 

Page | 2  
 

How to Make a Submission 
1. It is recommended that submissions on council size follow the format provided below. Submissions should focus on the future needs of the 

council and not simply describe the current arrangements. Submissions should also demonstrate that alternative council sizes have been 
considered in drawing up the proposal and why you have discounted them.  
 

2. The template allows respondents to enter comments directly under each heading.  It is not recommended that responses be unduly long; as a 
guide, it is anticipated that a 15 to 20-page document using this template should suffice. Individual section length may vary depending on the 
issues to be explained. Where internal documents are referred to URLs should be provided, rather than the document itself. It is also 
recommended that a table is included that highlights the key paragraphs for the Commission’s attention.  
 

About You 
3. The respondent should use this space to provide the Commission with a little detail about who is making the submission, whether it is the full 

Council, Officers on behalf of the Council, a political party or group, or an individual.  
 

Click or tap here to enter text. 
 

Reason for Review (Request Reviews Only) 
4. Please explain the authority’s reasons for requesting this electoral review; it is useful for the Commission to have context. NB/ If the 

Commission has identified the authority for review under one if its published criteria, then you are not required to answer this question. 
 

Click or tap here to enter text. 
 

Local Authority Profile 
5. Please provide a short description of the authority and its setting. This should set the scene for the Commission and give it a greater 

understanding of any current issues. The description may cover all, or some of the following:  
• Brief outline of area - are there any notable geographic constraints for example that may affect the review?  
• Rural or urban - what are the characteristics of the authority?   
• Demographic pressures - such as distinctive age profiles, migrant or transient populations, is there any large growth anticipated?  
• Are there any other constraints, challenges, issues or changes ahead? 

 
Click or tap here to enter text. 
 

P
age 129



 
 

Page | 3  
 

The Context for your proposal 
 
Your submission gives you the opportunity to examine how you wish to organise and run the council for the next 15 years.  The Commission 
expects you to challenge your current arrangements and determine the most appropriate arrangements going forward. In providing context for 
your submission below, please demonstrate that you have considered the following issues.  
 

 When did your Council last change/reorganise its internal governance arrangements and what impact on effectiveness did that activity 
have? 

 To what extent has transference of strategic and/or service functions impacted on the effectiveness of service delivery and the ability of 
the Council to focus on its remaining functions? 

 Have any governance or capacity issues been raised by any Inspectorate or similar? 

 What impact on the Council’s effectiveness will your council size proposal have?  
 
Click or tap here to enter text. 
 

 

Council Size 
6. The Commission believes that councillors have three broad aspects to their role.  These are categorised as: Strategic Leadership, 

Accountability (Scrutiny, Regulation and Partnerships), and Community Leadership. Submissions should address each of these in turn and 
provide supporting evidence. Prompts in the boxes below should help shape responses. 

 
Strategic Leadership 
7. Respondents should provide the Commission with details as to how elected members will provide strategic leadership for the authority. 

Responses should also indicate how many members will be required for this role and why this is justified.  
 

Topic  

Governance 
Model 

Key lines of 
explanation 

 What governance model will your authority operate? e.g. Committee System, Executive or other? 
 The Cabinet model, for example, usually requires 6 to 10 members. How many members will you 

require? 
 If the authority runs a Committee system, we want to understand why the number and size of the 

committees you propose represents the most appropriate for the authority.  
 By what process does the council aim to formulate strategic and operational policies? How will 

P
age 130



 
 

Page | 4  
 

members in executive, executive support and/or scrutiny positions be involved? What particular 
demands will this make of them? 

 Whichever governance model you currently operate, a simple assertion that you want to keep the 
current structure does not in itself, provide an explanation of why that structure best meets the needs of 
the council and your communities. 

Analysis Click or tap here to enter text. 

Portfolios 

Key lines of 
explanation 

 How many portfolios will there be?  
 What will the role of a portfolio holder be?  
 Will this be a full-time position?  
 Will decisions be delegated to portfolio holders? Or will the executive/mayor take decisions? 

Analysis Click or tap here to enter text. 

Delegated 
Responsibilities 

Key lines of 
explanation 

 What responsibilities will be delegated to officers or committees? 
 How many councillors will be involved in taking major decisions? 

Analysis Click or tap here to enter text. 

 
 

Accountability 

8. Give the Commission details as to how the authority and its decision makers and partners will be held to account. The Commission is 
interested in both the internal and external dimensions of this role. 
 

Topic  

Internal Scrutiny 
The scrutiny function of authorities has changed considerably. Some use theme or task-and-finish groups, for 
example, and others have a committee system. Scrutiny arrangements may also be affected by the officer 
support available. 

P
age 131



 
 

Page | 5  
 

Key lines of explanation 

 How will decision makers be held to account?  
 How many committees will be required? And what will their functions be?  
 How many task and finish groups will there be? And what will their functions be? What time commitment 

will be involved for members? And how often will meetings take place? 
 How many members will be required to fulfil these positions? 
 Explain why you have increased, decreased, or not changed the number of scrutiny committees in the 

authority. 
 Explain the reasoning behind the number of members per committee in terms of adding value. 

Analysis Click or tap here to enter text. 

Statutory Function 
This includes planning, licencing and any other regulatory responsibilities. Consider under each of the 
headings the extent to which decisions will be delegated to officers. How many members will be required to 
fulfil the statutory requirements of the council? 

Planning 
 

Key lines of 
explanation 

 What proportion of planning applications will be determined by members? 
 Has this changed in the last few years? And are further changes anticipated? 
 Will there be area planning committees? Or a single council-wide committee? 
 Will executive members serve on the planning committees? 
 What will be the time commitment to the planning committee for members? 

Analysis Click or tap here to enter text. 

Licensing 

Key lines of 
explanation 

 How many licencing panels will the council have in the average year? 
 And what will be the time commitment for members? 
 Will there be standing licencing panels, or will they be ad-hoc? 
 Will there be core members and regular attendees, or will different members serve on them? 

Analysis Click or tap here to enter text. 

Other 
Regulatory 

Bodies 

Key lines of 
explanation 

 What will they be, and how many members will they require? 
 Explain the number and membership of your Regulatory Committees with respect to greater delegation to 

officers. 

Analysis Click or tap here to enter text. 

External Partnerships 
Service delivery has changed for councils over time, and many authorities now have a range of delivery 
partners to work with and hold to account.  

Key lines of explanation  Will council members serve on decision-making partnerships, sub-regional, regional or national bodies? In 

P
age 132



 
 

Page | 6  
 

doing so, are they able to take decisions/make commitments on behalf of the council? 
 How many councillors will be involved in this activity? And what is their expected workload? What 

proportion of this work is undertaken by portfolio holders? 
 What other external bodies will members be involved in? And what is the anticipated workload? 

Analysis Click or tap here to enter text. 

 

P
age 133



 
 

Page | 7  
 

Community Involvement 
9. The Commission understands that there is no single approach to community leadership and that members represent, and provide leadership 

to, their communities in different ways. The Commission wants to know how members are required to provide effective community leadership 
and what support the council offers them in this role. For example, does the authority have a defined role and performance system for its 
elected members? And what support networks are available within the council to help members in their duties? 
 

Topic Description 

Community 
Leadership 

Key lines of 
explanation 

 In general terms how do councillors carry out their representational role with electors?  
 Does the council have area committees and what are their powers?  
 How do councillors seek to engage with their constituents? Do they hold surgeries, send newsletters, hold 

public meetings or maintain blogs?  
 Are there any mechanisms in place that help councillors interact with young people, those not on the 

electoral register, and/or other minority groups and their representative bodies?  
 Are councillors expected to attend community meetings, such as parish or resident’s association meetings? 

If so, what is their level of involvement and what roles do they play? 
 Explain your approach to the Area Governance structure. Is your Area Governance a decision-making forum 

or an advisory board? What is their relationship with locally elected members and Community bodies such 
as Town and Parish Councils? Looking forward how could they be improved to enhance decision-making?   

Analysis Click or tap here to enter text. 

Casework 

Key lines of 
explanation 

 How do councillors deal with their casework? Do they pass it on to council officers? Or do they take a more 
in-depth approach to resolving issues?  

 What support do members receive?  
 How has technology influenced the way in which councillors work? And interact with their electorate?  
 In what ways does the council promote service users’ engagement/dispute resolution with service providers 

and managers rather than through councillors? 

Analysis Click or tap here to enter text. 

 

  

P
age 134



 
 

Page | 8  
 

Other Issues 
10. Respondent may use this space to bring any other issues of relevance to the attention of the Commission.  

 
Click or tap here to enter text. 
 
Summary 
11. In following this template respondents should have been able to provide the Commission with a robust and well-evidenced case for their 

proposed council size; one which gives a clear explanation as to the number of councillors required to represent the authority in the future. 
Use this space to summarise the proposals and indicate any other options considered. Explain why these alternatives were not appropriate in 
terms of their ability to deliver effective Strategic Leadership, Accountability (Scrutiny, Regulation and Partnerships), and Community 
Leadership.  
 

Click or tap here to enter text. 

P
age 135



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 137

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 145

By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 147

By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 Update to General Fund Medium Term Financial Plan 2021/22-2024/25
	MTFP annexe 1 revised
	MTFP Annexe 1 - graphs
	MTFP annexe 2
	MTFP annexe 3

	8 Revised Corporate Strategy 2020 - 2025
	Corporate Strategy 2020_25 v8

	9 Carbon Neutrality Action Plan 2020-2030
	Annexe 1 Carbon Neutrality Action Plan v10 Final
	Annexe 2 - Climate Change and Sustainability Strategy Final Nov2020 FV
	Annexe 3 - Consultation Summary

	10 Boundary Commission Electoral Review 2020-2022
	LGBC Full Council Presentation Nov 2020
	Council Size Submission Template-NEW

	12 Property Matter
	Exempt Annexe  1
	Exempt Annexe 2


